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P R O C E E D I N G S
MR. PRESIDENT:  

Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  Court is in session.  Appearances as before.  

Registrar, you may swear in the witness.  

(Declaration made by Witness Dr. Alison Des Forges in English)   

MR. PRESIDENT:  

And, Mr. Prosecutor, apart from the resuming (sic) of the resume of the witness that you have filed, do you have anything to lead with regard to the witness's qualifications?  

MR. JEGEDE:  

Your Honours, my understanding is that if the qualifications of an expert witness are in issue as they are in this case, the necessary procedure will be to hear the witness on a voir dire and determine the ‑‑ those qualifications.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

There is ‑‑ that is why in order to start the voir dire, I want ‑‑ since you have already submitted her qualifications; I want to tender her for cross‑examination for the other side. 

MR. JEGEDE:  

As the Court pleases.  I'll be guided by Your Honours.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

That is why I asked whether you have anything to add to her qualifications. 

MR. JEGEDE:  
I believe, basically, we have everything in her CV and that would be an appropriate approach.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

So you are relying on that?  

MR. JEGEDE:  

Yes, I am relying on that. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Yes, sine the Defence ‑‑ since you ‑‑ do you admit her as an expert, Mr. St-Laurent?  

MR. BLACK:  

I don't, for General Ndindiliyimana. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Bizimungu. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT:  

We do not either, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Mr. Taku. 

MR. TAKU:  

Your Honours, we do not yet know exactly on what specific technical issue she is testifying in order to clarify ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

That will be with regard to her testimony, but this is where we are now, determining the preliminary question whether she is an expert. 

MR. TAKU:  

We will, surely, Your Honours, put some questions to her, and after the answers to those questions, we will be able to make a brief submission on this. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Mr. Segatwa. 

MR. DOUMBIA:  

Mr. President, we are aware that she is an expert in many areas, but we think that her expertise is not relevant to this case. 

MR. JEGEDE:  

Your Honours, perhaps it would be appropriate for me to inform the Court that we would be presenting the witness as an expert in the history of Rwanda and as an expert in the observation of human rights in Rwanda. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

I hope everybody is aware of the judgment of the Appeals Chamber, and also try to limit the scope ‑‑ or, try to act within the framework of that judgment. 

MR. TAKU:  

Your Honours, my ‑‑ 

MR. BÂ:  

Mr. President, I did not understand what you said.  I have not understood what you said. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

I will say it again.  I hope that everybody is aware of the judgment of the Appeals Chamber which was rendered on the 16th June regarding certain matters.  So in the light of that, when you lead evidence you may keep the framework in mind. 

MR. JEGEDE:  

Is Your Honour referring to the Appeals Chamber's decision in the matter of the judicial notice?  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Judicial notice, yes. 

MR. JEGEDE:  

Of course, we are aware of that. 

MR. TAKU:  

Well, Your Honours, she has not even said that she is going to testifying with regard to those issues which are legal issues and she would not surely qualify to testify on those issues, and even if she were, the decision of the Appeals Chamber not withstanding ‑‑ it's a matter to see whether the facts fall in line with that decision.  The decision cannot be implemented in a vacuum, Your Honours, and my colleague has just given two issues, two domains in which she could be an expert, Your Honours, but we would like a time frame ‑‑ within which time frame.  It cannot just be human rights in Rwanda.  It's too wide, and if it is too wide, it becomes irrelevant to this particular case. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT:  

Thank you, Mr. President, first of all, I would like to say that you are obviously referring to the 
Appeals Chamber's decision of 16th June 2006, and first of all, this judgment ‑‑ decision ought to be brought before this Chamber.  That is my first observation.  

Secondly, yes, this is an expert witness, but we need to be very specific as to the Prosecutor's intentions with this expert.  Whether she will talk about developments in Rwanda's history, or ‑‑ also we should determine very precisely in terms of her qualifications how Mrs. Des Forges will be presenting her case here.  Based on her qualifications to be attributed, we could broadly say that she is an expert, but we need to determine exactly what her expertise will be useful in this case. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Yes, for the purpose of determining whether she is an expert, since they have already tendered her CV, I invite ‑‑ and I heard Mr. St‑Laurent saying that you admit her partly as an expert.  So we will divide the time and give you ten minutes each to put questions to this person determine whether she is an expert.  

Yes, Mr. Black, if you want you can start.
CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Madam, have you published any scholarly article on the history of Rwanda, the events in Rwanda in the last ten years ‑‑ sorry, in the last six years? 

A.
I have published a number of scholarly articles in the last six years, yes, most recently in the spring, I'm not sure which month, but I have recently submitted an article to the Journal of African History and another one to the Journal of African Studies at their request. 

Q.
And what was that article about? 

A.
One was an assessment of the situation in Western Rwanda: An anthropological analysis of the situation in Western Rwanda prior to 1990.  The other is an assessment of more recent events. 

Q.
By recent events, you mean what exactly? 

A.
I mean the events in 1994 and since. 

MR. JEGEDE:  

Just a moment, My Lords.  Your Honours, perhaps we have to ‑‑ I need to put the CV in.  It has not been admitted into evidence in case Defence counsel will want to refer to the ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

At this stage, Mr. Jegede tenders the CV of this witness.  The court accepts that and gives a marking 
P. 106.

Yes, Mr. Black.

 (Exhibit P. 106 admitted) 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Have you published any scholarly articles on the events of 1994 in Rwanda since you published your famous book? 

A.
I have published a number of short articles in scholarly journals assessing those events, yes.  

Q.
Are those articles based on the information you had when you wrote your book? 

A.
Obviously, I didn't expunge that from my memory, yes, that was included along with other information. 

Q.
Have you read any of the other literature, for instance, have you read Robin Philpot's book, which in English it translated as:  "It didn't happen that way in Kigali"? 

A.
I have not, I do not regard that as a scholarly work and I have not found time to read it. 

Q.
Well, how can you say it is not a scholarly work if you haven't read it? 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:  

Could Mr. Black please be advised to allow that gap for our French colleagues?  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Yes, please, keep that.  Witness, you also speak a little slowly.  Just to be -- 

MR. BLACK:  

I don't think the problem is with Madam Des Forges, I think it's me.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Can you repeat that answer, please?  

THE WITNESS: 

Yes, Your Honour, I have said that I had glanced the book and discussed it with other scholars. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Have you read the book -- Valens Kajeguhakwa's book? 

A.
I have. 

Q.
Have you read Honoré Ingambo's book about the meetings between President Habyarimana and President Mobutu, just before he was killed? 

A.
I have read extracts of that. 

Q.
Have you read any of Charles Onana's books? 

A.
I have. 

Q.
You have? 

A.
I have. 

Q.
Have you read Abdul Ruzibiza's book? 

A.
I have. 

Q.
Have you read the statement to the UN by Christophe Nakizabera? 

A.
Could you give me the dates?  Which was that?  

Q.
I believe that was in 1999? 

A.
I read that at the time, yes. 

Q.
Have you read the account of Judge Brugiere's report as revealed in Le Monde about who shot down the plane? 

A.
I have. 

Q.
Have you taken any of these ‑‑ the books you have read, have you taken them into account in your appreciation of the events in 1994?

A.
Of course, where there is substantial information confirming the conclusions of (inaudible), I have attempted to incorporate that information as well as the authors of conclusions into my own understanding of events.  

Q.
Have you written any articles refuting any of these works or critiquing any of these works? 

A.
I will be publishing a review of the Ruzibiza book. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Just give a gap. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Have you read the transcripts in this trial? 

A.
I have not. 

Q.
So you cannot comment then on any of the evidence presented before this trial so far? 

A.
To the extent that it overlaps with my knowledge from other situations, of course, I can refer to those events, but I have not, as I said, read the transcripts in this trial, so to the extent that information has been presented here that is unique and has not been presented anywhere else, no I cannot commented on it unless it is presented before me, in which case I will draw upon my experience and my knowledge to do my best to interpret it for the Court. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Yes, Mr. Black. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Did the Prosecution offer to provide you with the transcripts so you could have an appreciation of the facts as presented in this trial so far and ‑‑ or, did you ask to see them? 

A.
The Prosecutor did not offer them to me.  I would have been happy to read them, but each Prosecutor has his or her own strategy about use of an expert witness.  I suppose that this was a matter which lay within their purview and not mine. 

Q.
Do you have a letter of reference from the Prosecution asking you to be an expert in this case and setting out what they expect from you? 

A.
I believe there was an e-mail communication indicating that.  In addition, I have had several exchanges, spoken exchanges with members of the Prosecution team. 

Q.
Do you have a copy of that email available we could look at? 

A.
No, I do not.  

MR. BLACK:  

Perhaps, I can ask my friend to provide a copy of that so that we can find out exactly what the Prosecution did under what conditions?  Can Mr. Jegede provide that?

MR. JEGEDE:  

I do not have the email that my friend is speaking about right away, but I could look into my computer and see which one specifically can be made available to the Defence counsel. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
I noticed that you have an office here; you have your own office in the Prosecution area or not? 

A.
I do not; I do not even have a telephone. 

Q.
You receive funds from the Prosecution for all your work? 

A.
I do not. 

Q.
Who finances your trips here?  

A.  
My plane ticket is paid economy class by the Prosecutor's office and I receive per diem for hotel and food, but I am not paid a salary.  I am put at the disposition of the Court by Human Rights Watch, but I continue to fulfill my Human Rights Watch duties in the evenings and during the weekends. 

Q.
So you receive a stipend or some monetary compensation from Human Rights Watch? 

A.
Not specifically to testify, certainly not.  I have my ordinary duties which are part of my post at 

Human Rights Watch which involve monitoring and reporting on human rights abuses in Rwanda, Burundi and the Democratic Republic of Congo. 

Q.
I will put something to you and see what you think about this.  Perhaps, you are aware of this because Alan Dershowitz said this about your organisation yesterday, I'm sorry Saturday ‑‑ yes, yesterday.

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Yes, Mr. Black, confine her with regard only to the expertise. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
He said:  Quote ‑‑ and I can do a free translation very shortly:  

"Who will guard the guardians as Roman satirist, Juvenak.  Now we must ask who is watching 
Human Rights Watch, one of the world's best financed and most influential human rights organisations.  It turns out that they cook the books about facts, cheat on interviews and put out pre‑determined conclusions that are driven more by their ideology than by evidence.  These are serious allegations, nevertheless, they are demonstrably true."     

Do you have a reaction to that? 

A.
Mr. Dersowitz, known for his extreme views on the Middle Eastern question, is extremely angry because Human Rights Watch has been revealing the extent of Israeli war crimes and U.S. war crimes, 

Mr. Dersowitz prefers that that information not be made public.  So I supposed that it was in that connection rather than any comment on its work in Central Africa that Mr. Dersowitz has spoken. 

Q.
Now, in your organisation's annual reports, it is stated that it accepts no government funds directly or indirectly; is that correct?  

A.
It is a statutory regulation, that is, it is part of the by-laws of Human Rights Watch that the organisation does not accept money directly or indirectly from governments. 

Q.
But, in fact, that's not true; is it, because the Dutch, NOVIB, N‑O‑V‑I‑B, and now part of OXFAM is government funded and funds your organisation's activities in the Great Lakes region? 

A.
If you were to enquire more closely, you would have discovered that NOVIB have two funding schemes, one from the Dutch government and one from a coalition of religious organisations because of the requirements set by Human Rights Watch by-laws.  Our arrangement with NOVIB for support specifies that the money contributed to Human Rights Watch comes from those accounts supplied exclusively by Dutch religious and civil society organisations.  I believe it should be possible to certify that if you address yourself to the NOVIB treasurer. 

Q.
And OXFAM is financed by the British government and the European Union, and partly by the 

United States Agency for International Development; isn't that correct, which also partly funds your work? 

A.
I do not know the funding sources of OXFAM.  We do not receive money from OXFAM.  We receive money from NOVIB.  Recently, NOVIB has become incorporated into the OXFAM umbrella organisations, but I do not know the exact terms of that relationship, but I am clear because the ‑‑ I am clear on the funding streams for Human Rights Watch because our legal officers are obligated under law to enforce our by-laws, and those by-laws require that we do not accept directly or indirectly government funds.  I also would like you to clarify what you meant by your final comment about USAID funding ‑‑ was it my work or the work of Human Rights Watch?

Q.
All right.  Because in the Akayesu case in the transcripts, there you were asked a question about your initial ‑‑ your commission with Eric Gillet and company before 1994 and you stated that, indeed, you had been partly financed by the U.S Agency for International Development in your work for that commission? 

A.
That is an incorrect reading of the transcript.  I would like to see the transcript, please, so we can set the Court straight on your misreading. 

Q.
Well, I haven't got it with me but I can bring it tomorrow, we can go back to that.  Basically, you said, "Yes, I was partly financed by that and ‑‑ 

A.
I did not. 

Q.
I will bring the transcripts tomorrow.  

A.
Please, do. 

Q.
What was the commission's relationship with USAID in 1990 through 1994?  Tell me, first of all, your relationship with that agency.  When had that commission with Eric Gillet and Mr. Shareware (phonetic) --  

A.
There was none. 

Q.
None at all? 

A.
None.  I believe you are confusing the facts.  Perhaps, you should be a little more careful because this is an important question.  In July of 1991, I did a brief consultancy for what is loosely called in American parlance a think-tank called "The Association for Rural Development".  This think-tank was in turn serving as a consultant to USAID to prepare a baseline study of democratic and civil society institutions in Rwanda.  That was in July of 1991.  If you look at my CV you will see it quite clearly spelt out that in November of 1991, I was present in Rwanda for the first time on a human rights mission.  I did that for the organisation Africa Watch, which has now become Human Rights Watch, or a division of 

Human Rights Watch.  The commission to which you refer did its work in Rwanda in January of 1993; not in 1991 or 1992.  

Q.
An organisation called Public Affairs states that in its biography of George Soros that he is the 

chief financier of Human Rights Watch.  Is that correct as far as you know?  

A.
No, I am not acquainted with the extent of Mr. Soros's funding of various organisations, but I believe his primary financial support goes to what is called "The Open Society Institute".  He has been a donor to Human Rights Watch, but he is not, so far as I know, the chief donor, basically, I am not sure of that. 

Q.
His site ‑‑ public affairs is his site ‑‑ one of his sites, he claims that anyway.  He claims that he is one of the ‑‑ or, the chief financiers of your organisation.  

A.
Perhaps we should look at that to be sure of the exact wording.  Have you got a print out from the site?  

Q.  
I have a print out from the site and it says that, but whether it's true, I don't know. 

A.
Well perhaps it's best not to raise it if you are not sure.  

Q.  
Well, that is being stated by him.  Whether he is lying or not, I'm not sure.  

A.  
Can we see what it states?  

Q.  
I just told you what it states.

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Slowly. 

MR. JEGEDE:  

Your Honours, if we could kindly have a direction as to where Mr. Black is going with all these because I cannot remember that the witness's CV contains references to questions that he is posing to the witness. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

But what he is trying to say is whether she is getting paid by other organisations.

MR. JEGEDE: 

As the Court pleases.

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
But nevertheless you do admit that the U.S finance Human Rights Watch in some respects, and we know that George Soros finances both Tribunals?  So don't you think that you have a little conflict of interest since he finances the Prosecution service, and Judges and you? 

A.
I have no direct contact with Mr. Soros.  I do not know what Mr. Soros's contribution to the Tribunal is, but my understanding is that the Tribunal is financed by the United Nations. 

Q.
Well, it's not.  Your understanding is incorrect.  There is a special fund for both tribunals which includes ‑‑ and in fact they make an open demand for support from private corporations among others, and individuals.  

MR. JEGEDE:  

A moment, Mr. Black.  It's not an objection; I would just like Mr. Black to put the names on the record by spelling out the names that he has mentioned.  He has mentioned quite a few names that we don't ‑‑ we might not get the correct spellings on the record. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Yes, Mr. Black, keep that in mind. 

MR. BLACK:  

Well, Soros is S‑O‑R‑O‑S.  

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
I am surprised that you don't know that but it is a fact that he does, in fact, contribute funds to both Tribunals and the outreach programmes, and to your organisation, so don't you think there is a conflict of interest, at least there appears to be one even if you, yourself, don't feel so? 

A.
Well, given that I am totally ignorant of all aspects of Mr. Soros's finances, I cannot see that this has any influence whatsoever upon my thinking. 

Q.
But he funds an organisation which you are involved with which must influence your thinking.  Otherwise, do you agree with the organisation's precepts and goals; do you not? 

A.
I agree with the organisation's goals, but I, occasionally, disagree with its policies as would any thinking member of any organisation. 

Q.
And Human Rights Watch includes on its board members of the council of foreign relations; does it not? 

A.
I do not know.  I will not be surprised.  I do not know that for a fact.  Whom are you thinking of?  

Q.
Well, Morgan Abramovic for one.  I don't think he is a member anymore but he was, a few years ago, a member when you wrote your book I believe.  

A.
And is Mr. Abramovic also a member of foreign affairs?   Was he, at some point in his life a member?  

Q.
Yes.  He is included on my list here.  I will look for that.  I'll ask you some other questions.  Your organisation is also ‑‑ Steven Del Rosso, do you know Steven Del Rosso, also a member of the 

Council on Foreign Relations, works for the Carnegie Corporation? 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Well Counsel, even if there is a conflict of interest, that does not affect her qualification, so you limit your questions to that aspect. 

MR. BLACK:  

Well, it may, I think it does. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Do you know Steven Del Rosso? 

A.
I do not know Steven Del Rosso. 

Q.
Do you know Alice Henkin, H‑E‑N‑K‑I‑N, she is also a member of the Council of Foreign Relations? 

A.
I have met Ms. Henkin, yes. 

Q.
Human Rights Watch also includes on its board people from various organisations ‑‑ corporations and organisations like the McCarthy Foundation, Carnegie Foundation, Rockefeller Foundation, and 

David Rockefeller is an honourary chairman; is he not? 

A.
I do not know, I do not know.  

Q.
You do not know.  Well, it's listed on the website.  I take it to be so.  

Doesn't Human Rights Watch have as its agenda the promotion of ‑‑ what are loosely called American ideals and promotion of a one world government.  It uses so-called human rights abuses in the 
Third World as justification for American intervention in various parts of the world? 

A.
I believe you will find an argument for Mr. Dersowitz, on that question.  I think Mr. Dersowitz would take rather the opposite point of view. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

I think, Mr. Black, you are now concentrating on the credibility aspect, not the qualifications.  So try to limit your questions to qualification. 

MR. BLACK:  

Well, qualifications goes to whether she is a neutral party or not.  She can't be an expert if she is partisan.  That's impossible and that goes to her qualification. 

THE WITNESS: 

The ideals that Human Rights Watch are to defend are the ideals that are encapsulated in various international conventions to which people in all parts of the world have subscribed.  The staff has a broad diversity of persons from other religions, other cultural regions, other language groups, and although their headquarters are in the United States, there is a sincere attempt made to be representative of the ideals of people in many (inaudible). 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
But nevertheless the board and the principal parties involved in running the organisation are Anglo‑American, are they not? 

A.
No, I would not say so.  We could try to do a census if that interests you, but I believe it would be difficult to make that generalisation.  I think if you consult our website and acknowledge the role played by Human Rights Watch in revealing US war crimes in Iraq, you will find it difficult to argue that this is an organisation which is a puppet of the US government. 

Q.
Well, there are different factions in the US government, some of which were not happy with the war in Iraq.  So I think we can argue about who you really represent ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK:  

Well ‑‑ but I won't go there. 

BY MR. BLACK:

Q.
Your book, "Leave None to Tell the Tale" was written on behalf of Human Rights Watch and not as a scholarly work by yourself as a professor of history; is that right? 

A.
The expenses for the research and publication were supported by the International Federation of Human Rights and by Human Rights Watch in collecting, analysing and putting forward the information.  I applied the highest scholarly ideals and methodology which I had learnt at university and throughout my work as a historian.  

Q.
And when you wrote that work, did you interview people who I can loosely term "on the other side" that is, the men accused here, for instance, other members of the former regime who are in prison right now?  Did you speak to them to get their point of view on what you say your book was about?  

MR. JEGEDE:  

Objection, Your Honours.  This is a question on methodology.  Methodology, with due respect, goes to weight, and weight is considered at the end of the witness's testimony but not at this stage. 

MR. BLACK:  

Okay, I can get into that if she is qualified against that later.  I have no further questions.  Thank you.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Any other questions from Mr. Taku?  

MR. TAKU:  

Yes, Your Honour.  

CROSS‑EXAMINATION. 

BY MR. TAKU:

Q.
Good morning, Dr. Des Forges.  Yes, Dr. Des Forges, in your CV at page 2, we find somewhere written "partial list of publications".  Do you have that before you? 

A.
I do. 

Q.
And you cited a series of publications on which you lay claim to your expertise based on this publication; is that correct? 

A.
Not exactly, Counsel, my expertise is perhaps reflected in part in the publications, but it is not the basis for my qualification.  The basis for my qualification is my extensive experience, some 40 years in the region and the work I have invested in attempting to understand the situation.  

Q.
But Dr. Des Forges, in the report that you submitted to the Honourable Court and served to the Defence, you cited many of those works as the basis of your opinion in that report, is that correct? 

A.
In the report, I have referred to some of these publications.

Q.  
And one of them Dr. Des Forges ‑‑

MR. JEGEDE:  

Your Honours, we are not at this stage considering the report.  Either they have admitted they are not challenging the qualifications of the witness, then we prepare to entertain that question. 

MR. TAKU:  

Your Honours, it is relevant to the extent that it says that it is part of the basis of her qualification.  And if I may ‑‑ I may mention of the report, it is just to focus, Your Lordships, what relevance that this publication might have on her qualification and expertise.  That's just all.  I am not going into the content of the report as such.  If I were going into the substance of the report, then Your Honours would have asked me to wait until we get to the substance of the case.  But I will just ask the quest ‑‑ preliminary question just to get her to admit the number of publications that she lay claims to and which are in her CV ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Yes, she has listed all that in the second page and the experience as a witness. 

MR. TAKU:  

Exactly, Your Honours.  Yes, I'm coming to that point, Your Honours.  

BY MR. TAKU:

Q.
One of those publications that you've listed in your CV is, "Leave None to Tell the Story".  Is that true, Dr. Des Forges? 

A.
Yes, Counsel. 

Q.
An, indeed ‑‑ would I be right, Dr. Des Forges, that as far as that particular publication is concerned, you have a caveat for the content of that report, namely; that the facts in that report ‑‑ or, that particular report or that book or that publication, "Leave None to Tell the Story", which you have stated here, that the facts might not be, necessarily be true? 

MR. JEGEDE:  

Your Honours, that's a very confusing question.  It's rather compound in my view.

MR. TAKU: 

Okay, Your Honours, let me directly go to the point.

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Sometimes the title may not reflect what is inside.  Maybe (microphones overlapping) to attract. 

BY MR. TAKU:

Q.
Dr. Des Forges, that publication that you put in your CV, this is what you say about it in the introduction at page 39.  

MR. TAKU:  

With your permission, Your Honours, let me read in French.  

"This report cannot and it is not intended to establish legal issues, which matter only lies with state and international courts that are properly constituted.  Human Rights Watch and the International Federation of Human Rights do recall that the presumption of innocence is a fundamental right and nothing in the report can be interpreted as reflecting that presumption of innocence.  These organisations are disturbed that this work can only reveal part of the truth and Des Forges' work may contain errors or mistakes."  

(Microphones overlapping) particular publication in your introduction, Dr. Des Forges.  

A.
I do not have the French text in front of me, but to the best of my recollection that is an accurate citation. 

Q.
Thank you, Dr. Des Forges.  Now, let me move on to something else.  Are you an expert on military law with regard ‑‑ in particular with regard to Rwanda? 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Military law. 

MR. TAKU:  

Yes, Your Honours. 

MR. JEGEDE:  

Objection, Your Honour.  I don't know to what end he intended that question.  We didn't bring her here as a legal ‑‑ or, as a military expert, she is here as a historian and on the history of Rwanda and human rights in Rwanda as well. 

MR. TAKU:  

So, that stipulation is on record; that is a stipulation on record that she is not brought here as a military expert ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

She doesn't claim to be a military expert. 

MR. TAKU:

We will move on, Your Honour.  There is a reason why.  

THE WITNESS: 

If I may comment, Your Honour.  I am a historian, a historian writing about a country during a period of warfare inevitably talks about military operations, but I do not know how to dismantle a Kalashnikov and I could not distinguish one grenade from another.  But simply to say that as a historian, I have described certain military events. 

BY MR. TAKU:

Q.
Yes, but in the course of describing these events, you are actually not competent to interpret military text and text which belonged in the domain of an expert in military matters; am I correct? 

A.
I do not claim to be an expert in military or in military law. 

Q.
Now, Dr. Des Forges, are you an expert in the Rwandese language? 

A.
I have a certain competence in Kinyarwanda, which like the competence of most people in foreign languages, varies according to the subject and the situation, that is to say if I am living in the context where Kinyarwanda is spoken, my capacity is greater than living in a situation where I have not used it for a number of months.  That said, I do not claim to be a fluent speaker of Kinyarwanda, but I understand the basic structure of the language, and I have again, as a historian attempted to understand the meaning of certain terms and the use of certain terms in their historical context. 

Q.
But you do not claim to be an expert in linguistics? 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Counsel, I think under languages, she speaks about a limited knowledge of Kinyarwanda.  This is not necessary. 

MR. TAKU:  

Well, she is on oath now, Your Honours, and I know why I am asking.  These issues will arise thereafter.  

BY MR. TAKU:

Q.
But Dr. Des Forges, you do not claim to be an expert in linguistics as far as that language is concerned? 

A.
I do not claim to be an expert in linguistics regardless of language concerned. 

Q.
And you do not claim to be an expert in the interpretation and translation of that language into any other language? 

A.
I do not claim to be an expert in the interpretation of language as a general category, but rather, I do claim to have an understanding of certain terms as they are used in a historical context and as they have been explained to me both by the speakers and the hearers of those terms.  That is quite different from claiming universal competence in the language. 

Q.
Now, may I put to you, Dr. Des Forges, that looking at your CV and considering the indictment in this case, may I put it to you that on the evidence that has been adduced so far, may I put it to you, 

Dr. Des Forges, your expertise is completely irrelevant to this particular case.  What do you say to that, Dr. Des Forges?  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Well, Counsel, I think before she answers she must know the indictment; she must know the evidence that has been placed before this Court.  I don't know whether she can answer that.

MR. TAKU:

Okay, Your Honour.

THE WITNESS: 

Your Honour, may I simply say that as a historian, I must believe that history is always relevant. 

BY MR. TAKU:

Q.
Yes, but in a context, Dr. Des Forges.  

A.  
In this context as in any other, history is relevant.  It is important for the Chamber to understand the entire complexity and nuance because what is being considered is not simply a crime, it is also a historical event.  It is far broader than an ordinary crime, and to contribute to the historical nature and the understanding of the history of this event is the reason why I present my work before this Chamber. 

Q.
And finally, Dr. Des Forges, I put it to you that factual witnesses would have been more relevant than you coming here probably to speculate and pontificate on these issues which you do not have special knowledge.  That is all for her, Your Honour.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Yes. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT:  

I will be very brief, Mr. President.

CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
Madam Des Forges, just a few questions.  Thank you for any answers you might provide.  How would you describe ‑‑ or, in what ‑‑ how do you see your status or qualifications before this Court?  Do you see yourself as a historian or someone operating in some other capacity? 

A.
Counsel, as stated by the Prosecutor, I appear as a historian and as an expert of human rights in Rwanda during the period being dealt with by this Court. 

Q.
No, I have no difficulty in accepting that.  When I look at your impressive curriculum vitae that you would be someone who can be described as an expert of history.  But where I have some difficulty is when you talk about being an expert in human rights.  Are there some particular studies that you need to carry out or ‑‑ that you did carry out in the area of human rights at university level?  It doesn't matter what level.  Are there, for instances, courses in law or some academic training or particular studies that you went through in the area of human rights? 

A.
I got to the area of human rights through my experience and my work as a historian.  I used the methods that a historian would apply on the ground, that is to carry out a documentation or to document violations of human rights.  And the skills that I have as an expert are ‑‑ or focused specifically, and above all on facts or the reality of such abuses.  I don't deal with theory.  I am not a lawyer.  Even if I follow a number of training courses in that area, but I do not claim to be an academic or somebody qualified as an academic in the area of human rights.  I am, rather, a field person.  

Q.
Thank you, for the honesty or sincerity of your answer.  Indeed, since you are someone who deals with the ground and I am still dealing with the qualifications, I assume that in order to carry out or conduct the work that you do on the ground, there are certain techniques or methodology that is being used by persons engaged in investigations.  

A.
Of course. 

Q.
Did you follow some training whatsoever on investigation techniques that have to be observed by investigators on the ground when they deal with issues of violations of human rights? 

A.
Yes, I have followed training courses with colleagues at Human Rights Watch who were more experienced than myself in that area, but on the whole I found that well‑founded methodologies in the area of Human Rights coincided with the methodology adopted by a good historian, for instance, the search for documentation, recollecting some testimony, checking them and cross-checking them.  That's what the results are done by historians.  

Q.
I do not doubt the fact that the methodology used in history can apply in other areas of research.  I did have a first degree in history.  Just that ‑‑ if I have understood your answer clearly, the methodology used in history is to all ends and purposes ‑‑ maybe I am not interpreting what you are saying correctly, methodology used in history is also used ‑‑ is similar to the methodology used, for instance, in investigations on the ground in the area of human rights abuse or violations? 

A.
Well, I would say that there are some significant similarities. 

Q.
Could you expand a bit further on ‑‑ 

MR. JEGEDE:  

Your Honours, the objection is that the question is rather vague.  I would have preferred Mr. St‑Laurent to specifically go to the issue that he wants the expert to address instead of putting a generalised question. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Yes, Counsel, you may rephrase your question.

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
Let me just point out, Madam Des Forges ‑‑ 

MR. ST. LAURENT:  

I am fully aware that her qualification as a historian in light of her CV is ‑‑ well, speaks for itself.  I'm not talking about the content, but in light of her qualifications as a historian, I have no problems.  Where I am questioning and I am raising the matter with her is that ‑‑ is her qualifications as an investigator of human rights abuses.  And it seems to me that in view that the Prosecutor wants to use this expert both as a historian and as someone who is an expert in human rights matters, it seems to me that the questions I have raised with her attempts to find out what her qualifications are particularly in the human rights field.  Did she go for any training courses?  There is methodology that is peculiar.  When we carry out investigations, say in criminal matters et cetera.  This is what I am trying to find out, still as part of her qualification as a human rights expert. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Counsel, I think she answered.  She has said that she has gone through certain training courses with regard to questioning and investigating. 

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
I understand, Madam Des Forges, that your knowledge on investigations is not empirical knowledge, it is not academic knowledge, it is based on your experience together with colleagues in 

Human Rights Watch; is that correct? 

A.
It is based on 15 years of fieldwork often in the company of other investigators most of whom were lawyers.  I know that even though I am quite old that I am not done with the learning phase of my life, so I am always open to gaining more knowledge from my colleagues, colleagues whom I have been fortunate enough to work with. 

Q.
Am I right in saying that you, yourself, on a number of occasions described yourself as a human rights activist, be it in relation with your description of yourself as a human rights worker?  And then am I to understand that you are therefore an expert on human rights matters?  

A.
No. 

Q.
Are you an activist in human rights? 

A.
I am an activist in various areas of my life including the promotion of human rights. 

Q.
And as a human rights activist, I assume that you have objectives? 

A.
Certainly. 

Q.
How would you describe your role as a human rights activist? 

A.
Briefly, I would say that my work in human rights is not just as activist, but also as a monitor or observer, and that it includes identification, documentation and clarification or exposing violations, especially seriously violations of human rights.  And, I also endeavour to put a stop to abuses; to see to it that justice is done in such situations.  Basically, that is it.  

Q.
Very well.  So identifying, ensuring that the persons who are responsible that you have identified are brought to book.  

A.
That is oversimplifying it, I prefer my own answer. 

Q.
Very well.  We will take what you have said.  The area of expertise, the official ‑‑ the master, are there any points other than your own qualifications as a historian, are there any observations you have made in your role or capacity as an activist? 

A.
That is not the case.  I can see that you are trying to mix matters somewhat and I do not subscribe to that.  I carry out work which is strongly based on the facts as researched and I conduct analysis based on those facts.  Activism has nothing to do with this sort of work.  That is a matter apart. 

Q.
And in this vein, what about human rights matters?  Do these have nothing to do with your role as a historian? 

A.
As one documents the history of genocide in Rwanda, there is no way one could avoid mentioning violations of human rights.  Isn't that obvious?  I am not studying the history of the economy or poetry in Rwanda, I am documenting the history of the genocide and, therefore ‑‑ obviously, it will have some relation to human rights violations.  

Q.
Madam, I just want to know what is the nature of your expertise, but I understand from what you have said that human rights violations are an integral part of your methodology as a historian and that it does not matter who has caused such violations of human rights in Rwanda? 

A.
I would rather stick to what I said, not your description of what I said.  So I would like the Bench to appreciate what I have just said. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT:  

Thank you, Mr. President.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Mr. Doumbia, do you have any question?  

MR. DOUMBIA:  

Yes, just a few small questions.

CROSS‑EXAMINATION
BY MR. DOUMBIA:

Q.
Good morning, Madam Des Forges.  

A.
Good morning, Counsel.  

Q.
I just like to find out first of all, would you prefer Dr. Des Forges or Madam Des Forges?  

A.
It's all the same to me, you can call me doctor, professor, madam, as long as we address each other respectfully.  

Q.
From the answers you gave to Mr. Taku's questions that you are not an expert on military matters which reduces by about 50 percent my concerns, but I would like to know more about your qualifications in public security.  

A.
Counsel, I think we thoroughly discussed this issue and I do not claim to have qualifications in security matters.  However, I must stress that it is possible for a well‑informed historian basing himself on the facts to be able to discuss the issues without necessarily being an expert on that area.  

Q.
Very well.  Do you have a degree or any knowledge based on your work on the ground on practices and methods used by guerilla militia? 

A.
The same answer. 

Q.
And I think you will give the same answer with regard to terrorism? 

A.
Correct. 

Q.
Madam Des Forges, would you agree with me that in citing your areas of expertise, you did bring up a number of areas that you are not quite certain of, that is to say areas in which you, yourself, admitted to having uncertainty? 

A.
Your colleague cited a paragraph from the book "Leave None to Tell the Story", and I think in that portion of text it is stated, first of all, that we realised that every researcher must bear in mind, he may be mistaken.  There is such a possibility in life.  No one can ever say he is infallible, no.  So one must humbly accepts one's humanity that one is likely to fail in certain respects and I do accept that.  However, I must stress or insist on the sincerity and honesty of our efforts to do our best to come up with correct conclusions based on the facts and that is what we did. 

Q.
Thank you.  But I, on many occasions, noted quite important questions that there was room for probability or likelihood.  Does that not show one's uncertainty with regard to topics that one is presenting? 

A.
It is the word that shows or indicates that more in‑depth research would be required to achieve a better understanding of a given situation.  In some cases, certainly, I must say I concluded the work seven years ago and my knowledge continues to grow.  I never stopped my work so that the knowledge I have today is not necessarily the knowledge I held seven years ago on a number of subjects so that sometimes where I said in the past, probably, I might now be able to say, "No, it was not the case,” or “Yes, it was the case." 

Q.
Very well.  And so, if you were to rewrite your book, let us hope that will hot happen, Leave None to Tell the Story, would the references to the former prime minister, Jean Kambanda, would such references change? 

A.
Certainly, because I took full advantage and learnt a lot as I read certain documents written by 

Mr. Kambanda including his journals which were drawn up at the time of the event, as well as documents that I would say are more formal in nature which he has written since the events.  I have gained a lot from that and I must that the main ideas will not change, however, certain details, I must say I have learnt a lot from Mr. Kambanda and I hope that I will have a chance to present this knowledge to the Court, which has certainly had an influence on my interpretation. 

Q.
Thank you, very much, Ms. Des Forges.  I hope that the answers to the questions we will put on these issues will (inaudible).  They are the hallmarks of this newly acquired knowledge.  

MR. DOUMBIA: 

Court is adjourned for ten minutes. 

MR. BLACK:  

Before you do that, are you going to make a decision or you are going to allow us ‑‑ or you just having coffee now?  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

(Microphones not activated)
MR. BLACK:  

Oh, okay, because we want to make representations whether she is qualified or not before you make a decision.  We can't do that without argument.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Okay, we will first listen to you and then to the Prosecutor.  We will listen to the Defence for ten minutes, the Prosecutor for ten minutes, and then take a break with regard to this. 

MR. BÂ:  

Will this be after or prior to the coffee break?

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Microphone not activated)
MR. BLACK:  

For General Ndindiliyimana, we object to her being called at all.  First of all, she is not aware of all the literature on the subject.  She should be if she claims to be an expert, an expert, she keeps up‑to‑date on everything written on the subject (inaudible) on a particular subject.  She admits that she is not up‑to‑date on everything that has been written.  

Secondly, she has no idea what is going on in this trial.  She has not even bothered.  The Prosecution has not even asked her to read the transcripts.  So she doesn't know which facts she is bringing her so‑called expertise to bear on.  

Thirdly, I object to an expert being in this area whatsoever because it is a fundamental violation of a right to a fair trial.  What the Prosecution purports to do with this professor,  Madam Des Forges, is to short circuit the trial the same way the Appeal Chamber done that with the judicial notice decision by not requiring the Prosecution to bring all the evidence necessary to establish the facts.  What they are going to use this lady for, as they have done in other trials, is to present ‑‑ instead of presenting witnesses who can present the facts she is going to talk about, they called her in to present other peoples' facts but through her mouth.  She has just said that she hopes that she can present the writings of Prime Minister Kambanda before this Court.  Well, no.  If the Prosecution was to present the words of Mr. Kambanda, they should call Mr. Kambanda so that he can testify and we can cross‑examine him, not have Dr. Des Forges tell us what Kambanda said and what she thinks he meant by that.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

I thought your earlier position was only experts can do it. 

MR. BLACK:  

That goes to my point.  What is the purpose of an expert witness in a criminal trial?  It is to bring various specific expertise, usually scientific expertise, medical case, an engineering case, ballistics experts and so on, who come here and say, "I have been told this about the facts in this case because I need to assist the court and I understand those facts scientifically how a bullet would move this way; how a bridge would fall down this way and so on."  I have never seen in a criminal case in my entire life or history where a prosecution calls as an expert a historian to explain ‑‑ present to the court facts which are not before the court, and then on top of that give her own interpretation of those facts to the court, when those ‑‑ her interpretation concurs exactly with the Prosecution's case.  She intends, because she has done this in every case and she has included this document in her material, she intends to give you her interpretation of the so‑called ENI, the enemy ‑‑ definition of "The Enemy Document".  That document is already before you.  It's quite clear what it says.  It's for you to interpret what it means and come to a conclusion on what that document says.  They have called her to usurp that function and they are going use her to tell you that the document means exactly the opposite of what it says as some sort of expertise.  They are not going to call the men that wrote it to tell you what they meant it means, they are not going to call anybody else who read it to tell you what they understood it to mean.  They are going to call her, who has quite an agenda, quite clearly, to present the Prosecution case, not come here as a neutral expert not partisan on either side.  

And we know history is written by the victors and she is going to present the history of the victors as they see it, as they want you to understand it.  So I fundamentally object to an expert being called in this case whatsoever.  It's a violation of the right to a fair trial.  I can't ‑‑ she is going to present all sorts of things she read, she heard, she talked to Mr. X and Mr. Y and Mr. Z, and they told her this and she understands it to being that.  My client wants a fair trial.  He wants, if they could present those things as facts, he wants those people called, present their evidence, "I saw this happened; I heard that happened," so we can cross‑examine those people, but I can't do it because it is presented through her as some sort of expertise.  I have never heard of a historian being used as an expert anywhere because history, as she says, is continually unfolding, and since she hasn't read all the books that have been published in the last six or seven years, she doesn't know the facts.  She knows her set of facts which is frozen in time in 1999 and hasn't developed since.  And some books she said she has read, but she dismisses them, not the mark of a scientist.  And her history is not a science, history is a matter of interpretation of facts and continually changes.  We don't even know what happened in World War II at this point.  So I have a fundamental objection calling this an expert at all.  And secondly, because she has no knowledge of the facts in this case, she can't bring her expertise to bear. 

MR. TAKU:  

May it please Your Honours, I will be very, very brief.  Your Honours, maybe at the inception when they started this Tribunal, maybe evidence of persons like Dr. Des Forges was relevant then, but the evolution and changes in the rules of procedure and evidence intending to make the trial quicker and intended to enhance judicial economy, has rendered evidence of this nature irrelevant to the extent that under Rule 92 bis, Your Honours could, at any time, if there were any facts of any historical nature that could explain any evidence ‑‑ in any part of the evidence before Your Lordships, Your Lordships could, under proper application consider that.  

Now, I say this Your Honours, for the simple fact that the answers given by Dr. Des Forges to my questions convinced me that her testimony will not be relevant to the case in issue, and other 
Trial Chambers have determined this issue, Your Honours.  I refer Your Honours to the trial ‑‑ in the case of the Prosecutor versus Bizimungu, the Trial Chamber ‑‑ your colleagues in that Trial Chamber, Your Honours, at paragraph 19, Your Honours, stated very clearly that the role of an expert ‑‑ 

MR. JEGEDE:  

Just a minute.  We don't have the decision; we don't have the title of the decision. 

MR. TAKU:  

Yes.  "Decision of Defence motion for exclusion of portions of testimony of expert witness, 
Dr. Alison Des Forges, dated 2nd September 2005."  It is stated, Your Honours, "The role of an expert witness is to assist the Chamber in better understanding the evidence presented during the proceedings."  It continues, Your Honours, "If opinions turn out to be of a general nature or are unsubstantiated or turn out to be based on evidence that we, ourselves, have heard in this courtroom, then the Chamber has the discretion and we exercise the discretion to intervene in the course of the testimony (inaudible) evidence.  

Your Honours, furthermore, Your Honours, in the Akayesu case where she testified, cited, 
Your Honours, in Archibald International Criminal Court Practice, Procedure and Evidence, at paragraph 9/122 page 490, it is stated, Your Honours, that:  

"The standard for admission of expert testimony is whether the specialised knowledge possessed by the expert applied to the evidence ‑‑" let me read that again.  "The standard for admission of expert testimony is whether the specialised knowledge possessed by the expert applied to the evidence which is a foundation of the opinion to assist the Chamber in understanding the evidence."  
As the Trial Chamber put it in Akayesu, expert testimony is admissible if it is intended to enlighten the Judges on specific issues of a technical nature requiring special knowledge in a specific field.  This expert, Madam ‑‑ Professor Des Forges, Your Honours, has not come before Your Honours to explain a specific issue that has arisen in the course of this trial requiring expert evidence to explain to Your Honours in order to make an informed decision at the end of the case.  This is not the case here.  She is coming to testify about the history of Rwanda.  The issue of Rwanda is not in issue here, it is not the issue here.  

Your Honours, I will just make one point.  I wanted to make it later on but, Your Honours, I am forced to draw your attention to that earlier on so as not to waste the Court's time because it might arise.  I heard the submission of my colleague, Mr. Black, and I heard the comment Your Honours made in good faith, Your Honours, with regard to the document about Mr. Kambanda.  I want to raise that issue now, 
Your Honours, so that Your Honours would consider whether, at this point in time coming to talk about issues including those particular issues, would be relevant.  Now your colleagues in the Bizimungu case, the Prosecutor versus Casimir Bizimungu, the decision on the admissibility of expert testimony.  
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MR. TAKU:

‑‑ “is The Prosecutor versus Casmir Bizimungu, decision on admissibility of expert testimony of 
Mr. Benaifer Nowreje, 8th July 2005, stated at paragraph 10.  Dr. Nowreje does not purport to be an expert in Rwandan culture language, history or political affairs.  Accordingly, the Chamber considers that the scope of Dr. Nowreje’s expertise is limited to matters that relate to her investigations of several crimes in Rwanda based on interviews and investigations in the field.”  

Paragraph 11.  “The Chamber considers that the testimony of an expert witness is admissible only to the extent that testimony comes within the scope of the witness expertise.”  

And, finally, Your Honours, the ‑‑ just one minute, Your Honours.
 
Yes, Your Honours, at paragraph 3 of that decision, Your Honours ‑‑ at paragraph 3, Your Honours, it's stated, “It should be noted that in an oral ruling of 16th May 2005, the Chamber held that the material contained in paragraph 33 to 34 of Dr. Nowreje's report was inadmissible on the ground that the opinion expressed therein were formed on the basis of statements obtained by the Office of the Prosecutor which were not entered into evidence.”  

I just wanted to draw your attention to this, because this is what we are going to meet if this ‑‑ the expert’s expertise were allowed to go on.  It will be an attempt, as Mr. Black rightly says, to get through the backdoor, documents like those of Jean Kambanda, which were not tendered in his own case or were not tendered into evidence in this particular case.  And, therefore, this decision will apply.
On the basis of those observations, Your Honours, I will respectfully inform Your Honours, that this purported expert evidence is a waste of time ‑‑ judicial time.  It is not relevant to any issue in this particular case.  It does not help you to explain any evidence that you have heard and admitted into evidence. She, herself, does not even read the indictment.  She does not know the nature of the evidence tendered so far.  

MR. JEGEDE:

She never said that.  She did not read the indictment.  She only referred to the transcript.  

MR. TAKU:

Okay, maybe she referred to the indictment, Your Honour.  The indictment is not evidence.  She had not read the evidence, and if she has not read the evidence, then she does not know the issues that have been formulated by the evidence adduced in order to come and give her expert opinion on these issues.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Mr. St‑Laurent.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Very briefly, Mr. President.  What is being sought of an expert, or what is required of an expert is for the expert to provide scientific opinion or, otherwise, based on facts that have been adduced as evidence before this Court.  The expert assesses that evidence through her training and he or she can be of use.  

Now, I follow up on what my learned colleague says.  But this is not the case here.  Madam is going to introduce evidence that is not before you, and that is not the role of an expert, Mr. President.  Further, madam says, and she is quite honest when she does so.  She says she is a historian, that her area of expertise is history.  Her CV is superb; that she is also described as an expert in law, in human rights abuse.

Now, basing on what I have just said, it's your responsibility to determine whether there has been violation of human rights.  It is intrinsically imbedded in the indictment.  Now, what madam is doing ‑‑ and she says so quite honestly, when it comes to human rights, or she even goes a bit further; she says she is merely talking about her work as a human rights activist ‑‑ is a consequence of that work despite the methodology that she follows in this issue, Mr. President, in spite of her claims that this methodology is not the same as the investigations on the ground.  You may be tempted to say, "That is fine, we are just going to pick up her skills as an historian."  But then, we are going to form other aspects, and here, Madam Des Forges, as a factual witness, she having had ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Counsel, except that we consider that she said that when you consider genocide, human rights, I suspect, is intrinsically interwoven with genocide.  So she had to speak about it.  That is what she said.

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Well, which evidence has been brought to her attention for her to project her expertise before you?  Let us be honest about this, Mr. President.  What she wants to do here is to provide evidence that has not yet been brought before you.  We are going to raise things which are merely hearsay, twice, five ‑‑ six times, seven times, but that is not the evidence.  So, she won't be an expert as such.  That is, to whom such will be presented and from whom a certain opinion is sought.  So, that is the basis, the purport of my objection.

MR. DOUMBIA: 
Yes, Mr. President.  I just wish to add, briefly, that I fully agree with all that is being said by my learned colleagues, but let me be specific about the following: There is no doubt that Madam Des Forges does not testify here as a factual witness.  She will be testifying, if you do accept, as an expert witness.  So we, therefore, rule out the possibility of her testifying as a factual witness, and that is very important.  

Secondly, she told you that she has no expertise in military affairs.  Now, this case is intrinsically a Military one; that is, acts performed as soldiers.  So only a military expert is in a position to interpret and to say how founded; how grounded those acts are.  So the opinion of someone who is not a military expert cannot be given the attention you should give to what she says.  She has also told you that she has just basic knowledge when it comes to Kinyarwanda linguistics or language.  Yet terminology will be used here, and her opinion will be sought with respect to the meaning and significance of the said terminology.  So only a linguist or an expert in linguistics can explain the in-depth signficance of such terminology.

Mr. President, she told you, when it comes to public security, she was not an expert, let alone when it comes to guerrilla warfare, for instance.  Yet, you will notice, in the course of the proceedings that this is basically entrenched in this case.  So what is left now is that of her expertise as a historian.  You will bear in mind the temporary jurisdiction of this Court, and I wouldn't like you to insult you by reminding you of this.

If that is the particular aspect, and that is why I did recall previously that she is not a factual witness.  We know ‑‑ yes, she might have been in Rwanda during that period, and she is going to talk about history to us here, and so I am saying ‑‑ and in that regard, I am subscribing to what my learned colleagues have said, that her expertise as a historian is not relevant to this case even if she were going to behold on matters regarding human rights abuse or violations, she wouldn't be speaking or addressing this Court as an expert.  She has no qualifications in that area.  She has been in the field, yet I myself speaking to you, I have been on the ground for four years, but that doesn't make me an expert, where as I can tell a couple of things about my experience.

Thank you, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Well, you come here to the witness box, Counsel.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours since the submissions are similar in substance, I will address them as one.  

Many issues have been raised here, but I will only address the salient ones, the ones that I consider of importance is the standards, the guidelines for the admissibility of expert evidence.  And, Rule 94 bis, deals with the issue of expert evidence in this Tribunal, but beyond providing for the testimony of expert witnesses and the disclosure of their expert reports ‑‑

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:   
Slowly, sir.  Slowly.

MR. JEGEDE: 
Beyond providing for the testimony of expert witnesses and providing for the procedure for objecting to expert evidence, Rule 94 does nothing else.  But, by virtue of Rule 89, the Court and the Trial Chambers of this Tribunal have consistently held that in order to admit expert evidence, the Chamber must be satisfied; one, that the witness possesses the necessary qualifications, whether those qualifications were acquired by study or experience or both.  And then the second ground is that the expert testimony would assist the trial in understanding of the evidence, the factual evidence in the case and putting the entire evidence in context.  And, Your Honours, I will refer to three cases.  The first one is that of The Prosecutor versus Bagosora and others.  The particular decision, Your Honours, is entitled, "Decision on motion for exclusion of expert witness statement of Philip Reyntjens, of 28th September 2004. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Is that the same decision referred to by Mr. Taku? 

MR. JEGEDE:

No. That is another one.  It is at page 3, Your Honours, paragraph 8 and 9.  Your Honours, in that case, at paragraph 8 and, I quote:  "The Court ruled that in light of the complexity and scale of events in Rwanda in 1994, it is unsurprising that that Chambers of this Tribunal have adopted a liberal approach to the admission of expert testimony.  Expert witnesses have been authorised to testify on such matters as a rule of the military forces in Rwanda in 1994; the social economic and political situation leading to the 1994 genocide; the role of the media in the Rwandan society; the perpetration of human rights violations in 1994, and even on the very subject matter now in issue, the organisation of civil defence.  The standard for admission of expert testimony is whether the specialised knowledge possessed by the experts applied to the evidence, which is the foundation of the opinion, may assist the Chamber in understanding the evidence.  And two; having reviewed the witness's statement, the Chamber is of the view that his testimony will assist in understanding the evidence referred to therein."  

Your Honours, the second case is The Prosecutor versus Bizimungu et al.  The decision referred to by my learned friend, Mr. Taku, Your Honour, it is the decision on the admissibility of the expert testimony of Dr. Benaifer Nowreje, and it's dated 8th July 2005, at paragraph 14, which my learned friend did not read to Your Honours.  The Trial Chamber says at paragraph 14 of the ruling:  "The Appeals Chamber has held that the purpose of expert testimony is to supply specialised knowledge that might assist the trial of fact in understanding the evidence before it.”  

And then at paragraph 15, it says that, "The Tribunal heard in Bagosora et al that ‑‑” and then reads the portion I just read to Your Honours.  And then in paragraph 16: "The evolving standard of admissibility that these authorities disclosed is whether the expert testimony assists the Chamber in evaluating the factual evidence.  That is the second case, Your Honours.  
The third case is that the ‑‑ 

MR. TAKU:

Your Honour, I am not stopping my friend, I just want to complete ‑‑ it talks about "the evidence presented."  I want him to read everything.  

MR. PRESIDENT: 
Yes, Counsel, I understood it, but I didn't find anything to say that the witness should know what is presented to Court. 

MR. JEGEDE: 
As the Court pleases.

MR. PRESIDENT:

I didn't ‑‑ I was listening to it, but I didn't come across anything like that.  

MR. JEGEDE:

It is not an issue in our case, Your Honour, and it is not a requirement.

Your Honours, I also referred to the case of ‑‑ it is the same case, actually, but a different decision now.  And it is a decision on Casmir Bizimungu's urgent motion for the restitution of the report and testimony of Bill Sebahire Mbonyikebe, Rule 89(C).  And, Your Honours, at paragraph 12 or paragraph 11, it says, and I quote:  "Whether ‑‑"

MR. PRESIDENT:

What is the date, please?  

MR. JEGEDE:

Date is 2nd September 2005. It followed the one I read previously, and it says:  "Whether expert witness testimony is relevant, maybe determined by considering whether the testimony enlightens the Chamber on specific issues of a technical nature requiring specialised knowledge in a specific field, and whether the specialised knowledge possessed by the expert applied to the evidence, which is the foundation of the opinion may assist the Chamber in understanding the evidence.”  And it goes further in paragraph 12, and I quote:  "The Chamber finds that the report and the testimony of Professor Mboyinkebe are relevant, since it is evidence relating to material issues in this case and may assist the Chamber in understanding the evidence.”

Your Honours, those are the standards that we have in our jurisprudence here, and if, of course, we know that the Tribunal has sufficient jurisprudence on a particular issue, we do not need to travel overseas to look for authorities. 

Your Honours, this position ‑‑ the practice ‑‑ ICTR practice is also consistent of the Federal Rule of Evidence of the United States.  Rule 702, and I believe, Rule 703 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, deals with the issue of expert evidence, and they provide for the same requirements as this Tribunal has applied.  And, we might ask, Your Honours, why we are calling this witness.  The complex nature of the events in this issue have been acknowledged by historians and legal minds as well.  The crimes that we are trying here are not ordinary crimes.  They are not ordinary crimes that we are confronted with in national jurisdictions.  Your Honours, these are crimes of genocide, crimes against humanity, extermination and rape.  We know that the scale and the severity of the crimes are huge in proportion to those trials in national jurisdictions and the different rules should apply.  That is why, of course, we brought the witness ‑‑ the expert witness to put the factual evidence that we have had so far in ‑‑ in this case, I believe, this is the 70th witness,  to put those factual situations in context ‑‑ in historical context in which they happened.  And, Your Honours, I will also emphasise the fact that the events in Rwanda are attended to by a lot of myths and are stereotypes.  We need an expert witness to bring or to dispel these stereotypes or myths and stereotypes by talking about the historical context of the factual allegations pleaded in the indictment.  And, Your Honours, I submit that the Dr. Alison Des Forges is eminently qualified to do this.  We have seen her CV; very impressive CV; she has been on the ground in Rwanda herself to document the occurrences there. She has gone there with a forensic expert to excavate the mass graves, and she has done a lot of other things, both in the historical realm and in the human rights realm as well.  Your Honours, we believe that she is eminently qualified to assist Your Honours in understanding the evidence given in this Court so far.  

Thank you.

MR. PRESIDENT: 
Court is ‑‑

MR. BÂ:

Mr. President, I merely wish to add, briefly, to what my brilliant colleague has just said.  Now, to say, first of all, that history is science, it is not pure science like physics or mathematics.  It is a social science, like law, like economics, because history or the manner in which it is investigated relies on scientific methods, thorough and stringent methods, and historians use in carrying out their analysis that thoroughness.  It is not a matter of speculation.  Madam Des Forges is a historian and in our indictment as in other subsequent documents that we have tendered, we have tried to show the thrust of events to prove before this Court how this culminated in a genocide that occurred in 1994, and the light that she will shedding will be of the utmost importance.  

Secondly, she belongs to one of the organisations that monitors ‑‑ that underpins the surveillance of human rights; one of the foremost in the world ‑‑ attempts to ensure that human rights are observed throughout the world.  She is an expert of the Great Lakes region for more than 40 years.  We are not asking her to be a legal person.  This question about her legal skills ‑‑ but that lies with the Bench.  She is the woman who works on the ground.  She has gone across to all the nooks and crannies of Rwanda and the Great Lakes Region, and she produces the fruits or the findings of her investigations.  We don't need to be a legal person to come to terms with the fact that there is an arbitrary detention or a violation of human rights.  We don't need to be a lawyer to identify a case of torture when the scars are there.  She is a woman who works on the ground or in the field.  She is in a position to bring to this Court the findings of her own observation.  As an historian, she is an analyst of social phenomena.  History is an analysis of social phenomena.  In 1994 that was history.  So it's not only lawyers who dwell on such matters.  Historians do indeed have some light to shed, and we do need that clarification.

I thank you, Mr. President.  

MR. BLACK:

Briefly, because I want to go for coffee.   What they are trying to do again, is superimpose on this trial which is supposed to be a fact finding process.  Allegations are made Defence says they are not true.  Each side presents evidence; you are supposed to analyse and come to a decision.  Again, they have just admitted that they want to use her, as Mr. St‑Laurent said, as a factual witness.  They are going to put through her evidence they don't ‑‑ they are too lazy or haven't got the time or don't want to do, to present factually.  They are going to put it through her as second‑hand, third‑hand or fifth‑hand hearsay.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

As you said earlier, this is a peculiar case.  With your experience you have never defended a case like this.  

MR. BLACK:

And I hope never to again, because it's not fair.  The same with the appeals decision that ‑‑ the main charge against these men is genocide.  We say there wasn't one.  We have got evidence to prove it and yet we are not allowed to prove it.  I think that Madam Des Forges would agree that that is a violation of human rights, not having a fair trial, and the use of hearsay here.  She would agree with that.  So, they are trying to superimpose on you what your job is, to evaluate factual evidence and come to your own decisions, to say they are going to bring her and tell you what they are supposed to think about the very evidence you have seen yourselves. 

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honour, I think we have heard that before.

MR. BLACK: 
And, finally, it is a waste of time.  We will probably spend a month with this lady, which is a waste of her time and ours, and then they are going to bring another kind of expert, who is going to say exactly the opposite of what she says.  She says my point of view with regard to the Rwandan history is this, we are going to get others who will say, "She is totally wrong, she doesn't understand what happened.  She is totally wrong and this is what happened.  This is the way you should see it."

BY THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:  
Slow down, please, Mr. Black.  

MR. BLACK: 
And where does that get us?  We should have experts on this trial on historical and social issues ‑‑ there should be factual witnesses to present what they saw and observed and then you can come to your own decision on what you think happened in Rwanda in 1994.  

MR. BÂ:

Just one word, Mr. President.  Just one word, Mr. President.  Expert evidence is an opinion.  The Bench is not bound to believe that opinion.  They will clear that.  What she is going to do is provide a scientific analysis in that there will be documentations to back it up.  This is not a whim of her imagination.  We have evidence in support.   

MR. TAKU:

Yes, Your Honours, I think I just want to say one thing.  Your Honours, but surely I just want to say one thing.  Yes, Your Honours, I have listened to both counsel on the other side, but unfortunately,
Your Honours, they have still not said what issue ‑‑ what issue of a technical nature requiring special knowledge in a specific field this expert is going to testify on.  That was the decision in Akayesu.  They haven't done so.  The issue of Rwanda is not a technical ‑‑ specific issue; it is so broad.  Even the domain of human rights is so broad, as we all know, Your Honours, and it is for them to say ‑‑ like he rightly quoted in one of the decisions, that they talk about the civil Defence forces that they had to explain to the Judges exactly what it was, how t worked.  But in this particular case he says, "He was in Rwanda ‑‑ human rights in Rwanda, Your Honour, it is so broad, and it is so wide.  It is not specific enough.  It is not relevant to any particular allegation in this case.  

MR. PRESIDENT: 
Court is adjourned for 15 minutes. 
(Court recessed from 1130 to 1200H) 

MR. PRESIDENT:

This is the ruling of the Court.  The Chamber has heard the arguments of the parties.  The Chamber is satisfied that Dr. Alison Des Forges has specialised knowledge of the history of the Great Lakes region, including Rwanda.  The Chamber is further satisfied that her experience and her testimony may assist the Chamber in understanding the evidence before it and put it in a historical context.  Therefore, the Chamber admits Dr. Des Forges as an expert.  
Prosecutor, you may start.  

WITNESS DR. ALISON DES FORGES,

first having been duly sworn,

testified as follows:

EXAMINATION‑IN‑CHIEF 

BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
Dr.  Des Forges; you said in Exhibit 106, your CV, that you had published a book, “Leave None to Tell the Story;” is that correct?  

A.
It is. 

Q.
Do you have a copy of the book, "Leave None to Tell the Story," before you? 

A.
I do. 

Q.
Is the book relevant to your testimony in this Court? 

A.
It is.  The research and analysis reflected in this book is part of the information at the base of the conclusions presented in the expert report. 

Q.
Thank you?  Could you please open the page ‑‑ the first page of the book and read out with a loud voice? 

MR. BLACK:

What is the purpose of this?  Why are we going to this exercise with the book?

MR. JEGEDE:

I want to tender the book.  

MR. BLACK:

You can't tender the book.   

MR. JEGEDE:

Why? 

MR. BLACK:

They can't tender the book.  Her evidence is what she says orally here not from the book she wrote ten years ago ‑‑ six or seven years ago.  She has filed a report with us to indicate where she is going to go in her testimony.  The book we can't use in cross‑examination because it is prior written by here.  She can't ‑‑ they can't file her book as her testimony.  They can't do that.  Her testimony is what she says here.

MR. JEGEDE:  
No, no, no ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK:
That is the statement ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT: 
Her testimony will be what is coming from her mouth.

MR. JEGEDE: 
I know, Your Honours, I don't‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

So, you can't corroborate her also with the book that she has written.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, may I respond to that?  

MR. TAKU:

Your Honour, before that, let me join the objection, Your Honour ‑‑  I want to join the objection by 
Mr. Black. Just one minute.

MR. BLACK:

Just to add on, so my learned friend can include this.  It is the same ‑‑ she is the same as any other witness.  No Prosecution or Defence witness can file a previous statement as proof of what they are going to say.  They have to testify ‑‑ yes, Mr. Jegede, you know that very well.

MR. PRESIDENT: 
No, Mr. Black, she can refer to the book, saying that I have written that too in the book, but then you can't just produce the book.   

MR. BLACK:

Yes, Mr. President ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

She can't say ‑‑

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, we noticed the substance of the objection and I would like to respond.  This witness is an expert witness.  She is not a factual witness.  There are distinctions to be made here.  A witness ‑‑ a factual witness, a lay witness cannot be corroborated by a previous statement.  That is against the rule of self‑corroboration, but it does not apply in the case of an expert who is here as an expert witness who is here to assist Your Honours in understanding the evidence.  

MR. PRESIDENT:
Even if you are correct, Counsel, you can corroborate the witness in advance by producing the book.  The witness here must give evidence.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, the background, I have laid the foundation, I have mentioned her CV.  The book is mentioned in her CV.  That is the foundation.

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

I would just want to add.  Government in its decision on this matter -- I just want to make reference to it in the sense that if in the context of her testimony, madam has any statement to make that it could be made in that context, but other than that they are not admissible.  

MR. BLACK:

The problem with that, Mr. President, and Mr. Jegede, and you, is that if the file which is an exhibit becomes evidence, it is almost 900 pages, I then have the right, if that is evidence, to cross-examine her on every page.  I will be here for a year with this lady, and we don't want to do that.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours, we won't be subjected to threats here.  What we intend to do is ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK: 
That is not a threat, it is a fact.  If that is filed as her testimony, I will be cross-examining at length on all of it.

MR. JEGEDE: 
Well, if that helps the case of your client, that is good.  

MR. TAKU:

Your Honours, I come back to one point which Your Honours raised.  This witness produced a report.  The report was served on the parties and we did indicate that we would be challenging the report as it is.  Now, she has been admitted as an expert.  She hasn't even said anything about this report, and now they now move to other books, which do not necessarily constitute part of the report.  That book was not forwarded to us.  She didn't adopt it as her report.  She would just have tendered that book and said, "Look, this is my report, I will ‑‑ (Inadudible)", but that is not the case here.  So she should testify as to the report, which is the statutory report which was served on us.  And, thereafter, we see how it goes.  But for her to get up and start talking about other books, Your Honours, it is an attempt, clearly, on us, to bring the contents of this book which do not form part of the evidence in this case. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

So we will see how far Mr. Jegede is going since he has been cautioned on the book.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Thank you, Your Honours.  I am not going anywhere with the book right now. .  All we want to do is tender the book in as an exhibit, and then we can go on as directed with the testimony of the witness.

MR. PRESIDENT:

I think there is some merit in their objection of tendering the book and submitting the report.  So, if you are relying on the report ‑‑ if you are relying on the book you should have submitted the book in the form of a report.  So since you have submitted the report, you are confined to the contents of that report.  So, I don't think the entire book is relevant.  You can get whatever you want from that book through her mouth.

MR. JEGEDE:

As the Court pleases.  I quite agree with Their Honours, but it is the witness herself who said that she prepared her report partly on the basis of this book which she wrote and she has mentioned her book in her CV.  So, Your Honours, I don't see any difficulty in this at all.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, but she did not cite the book on the CV to introduce it.  That was done for the purpose of explaining her qualifications.

MR. JEGEDE: 
Exactly, but everything was ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT: 
Yes, but whatever he has written in the report which you may be able to supplement it through her knowledge and what she has written in the book, but you can't simply throw the book at her and say, "Well, you  will accept it."  So whatever you want to get, get it through her mouth, she will say it.  

MR. BLACK:

We have no trouble if she wants to refresh her memory from reports she has written on the book that is fine.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, that is right.  She can refresh her memory with the book she has written.

MR. JEGEDE:

As the Court pleases.  That is fine by me.

MR. PRESIDENT:

Witness, if you want to refresh your memory to certain facts, if you have forgotten, you may ‑‑ you are permitted to look into your book at the relevant stage.  

THE WITNESS:

Thank you, Your Honours, I understand.  

MR. TAKU:

Your Honours, I want to just say that she can refresh her memory on an issue on which we have been given notice in the report, not a new fact for which we have not been given notice in the report.  

MR. BÂ:  
Mr. President, for the purpose of internal housekeeping within the Offices of the Prosecutor, since it is already ten past twelve, could we not start this afternoon? 

MR. PRESIDENT: 
Yes, Court is adjourned until 2:30.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Please, just to make sure.  In Government II, the references that Witness Des Forges could make were admitted for a purpose, and I quote:  "With the only purpose of verifying her sources."  So, that will enable us to take a longer lunch break, Mr. Bâ, based on this.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes.  Court is adjourned to 2:30, this afternoon.
(Court adjourned at 1215H)
(Pages from 23 to 34 by Regina Limula)
1440H 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.  

Yes, Mr. Prosecutor, you may proceed. 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Welcome back, Dr. Alison Des Forges.  Let me kindly urge you to observe a pause after every question for the benefit of the interpreters and the court reporters.  

Have you prepared an expert report at the request of the Prosecutor of the -- in the trial of 

Augustin Ndindiliyimana, Augustin Bizimungu, François‑Xavier Nzuwonemeye and Innocent Sagahutu? 

A.
I have. 

Q.
I am placing before you a copy of your report.  Do you confirm that it is, indeed, the report you prepared at the Prosecutor's request? 

A.
It is, with reservations that I have not personally read or corrected the French version, the French translations.  So we have occasionally in the past, had difficulties in trial because of discrepancies in translation and I have not verified the French translation. 

Q.
But have you verified the English original? 

A.
It appears to be the same as the document in my bundle, and that is the document which I submitted, yes. 

Q.
And you do not have any corrections to make on that document? 

A.
There was one place where I -- where there's a typographical error, where it should be “MDR” and I had written “MRND”, but rather than waste the court's time to find that I will look for it and bring it in tomorrow. 

Q.
That's fine -- that's fine, Dr. Des Forges.  Can you, in a nutshell, tell the court what went into the preparation of your report? 

A.
The report is a summary of research done, beginning in 1991, and continuing through to the present, involving the examination and analysis of written documents of various kinds.  Informal documents, such as diaries and personal letters, formal documents, such as official correspondence, other forms of material information, such as photographs, the examination of other physical evidence, such as bullet shells  and human remains which I viewed, although not as an expert, the collection and analysis of considerable testimony from victims, from perpetrators.  And that I believe addresses the question which Mr. Black raised earlier, yes, I did interview perpetrators and accused perpetrators, and other persons present in Rwanda who fall in neither category.  In addition, I consulted diplomatic records, records of the United Nations, correspondence between foreign powers, the findings of official commissions of inquiries, such as that of the French National Assembly, the Belgian senate, the OAU and the United Nations, secondary literature by other scholars and analysts and press, both at the time written and spoken and since that time.  

Q.
Thank you.  

MR. JEGEDE: 

Your Honours, I would like to tender the report as Exhibit P.  107A, for the English and P. 107B, for the French. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

You rendered a decision this morning on the qualification of Madam Des Forges.  I did not hear her capacity.  You said she is an expert, but in what domain and then what follows from that qualification?  I want to know because the qualification of Ms Des Forges, as being done by you this morning ‑‑ what I need to know is, what kind of expert, you know, what kind of qualification did you give her?  And in order to do so -- and furthermore what kind of expertise?  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, for your benefit, I will read it again, the decision.  

The Chamber is of satisfied that Dr. Alison Des Forges has specialised knowledge of the history of the Great Lakes region, including Rwanda.  The Chamber is further satisfied that her experience and her testimony may assist the Chamber in understanding the evidence before it, and put it in a historical context.  That was our decision. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

I had heard your decision.  So I understand that you qualified her as an expert in history, is that what 
I am supposed to understand nothing else, nothing else -- other than an expert in history. 

MR. BÂ: 

Mr. President, in your decision you also said that based on her experience, she can give further ‑‑ throw further light on the trial. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

(Inaudible) 

MR. BÂ: 

But everything is history. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

All this, I can't be explaining it whether ‑‑ 

MR. JEGEDE: 

As the Court pleases.  As the witness herself had explained in the morning, history has many components, but ultimately all is history. 

MR. TAKU: 

Your Honours, I just want to say that your decision is very clear.  There's no confusion here ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT: 
Yes.   

MR. TAKU: 
If we start going into all history, we will open the debate because, indeed, her CV is here, the area of history where she specialises, Your Honours have said, that it is the Great Lakes.  So to say history  is history she specialises in, I don't think that's true.  You specifically said that she was an expert on the Great Lakes, including Rwanda. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes.  The report --  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER: 
The President's microphone. 

MR. PRESIDENT: 
Report 107A and B is accepted.
 (Exhibit No. P. 107A, 107B, admitted) 

BY MR. JEGEDE: 

Q.
In your record the areas ‑‑  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER: 
Microphone. 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
In your report you disclosed the early history of Rwanda and related it to the events of 1994.  Based on your research, are there any events in the early history of Rwanda that impacted the political system and the events that took place in Rwanda from April to July l994? 

MR. TAKU: 

Your Honours, this is a very, very complex question.  

MR. PRESIDENT: 
I think so.  

MR. TAKU: 
If it were simplified and go step by step, Your Honours.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, I think, Counsel, if you will just allow the witness to speak, she will speak for hours and hours on end.  So why don't you put short questions so that she will be ‑‑ 

MR. JEGEDE: 

Your Honours, this is an expert witness.  She perfectly understands me.  And I am on record as to what question I pose to the witness. 

MR. PRESIDENT: 
Yes. 

MR. JEGEDE:  
It is up to the witness to say; "I do not understand your question, please simplify it." 

MR. PRESIDENT:

No, no, no.  It is not a question of understanding the question.  If you put a short question and simplify it you might get simplified answers, otherwise, it will be a narration, a big narration.  So try to shorten the question so that ‑‑ 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Are there any events in the history of Rwanda ‑‑ in the early history of Rwanda that impacted the political system and events that took place in l994? 

A.
Of course, the most important developments, I don't think you can call it an event because it was not a discreet happening at one moment but rather, a series of happenings over time was the development of the state, because what made Rwanda different from many other parts of Africa was the existence of a sophisticated state from a relatively early period.  In addition -- and, of course, it was the existence of the state that made the genocide feasible.  

Secondly, it was a state in which the military played a significant role in the creation of the political structures and in implementing the directives of the sovereign, of the Mwami, as he was called, "the Ruler", implementing them in terms of governing the kingdom inside as well as carrying out military operations towards other areas.  So that implication of the military in civilian ‑‑ what we would call civilian affairs was an important characteristic which also has its relevance for the genocide.  

A third characteristic of importance was multiplicity of authorities.  It was a complex state not a simple one, in its multiple hierarchies.  This meant that Rwandan political culture developed in such a way that Rwandans ‑‑  

Q.
Madam, please can you go a bit slowly for the French translator? 

A.
To summarise briefly, I mentioned the development of the state, the role of the military in civilian affairs and now I am talking about the multiplicity of hierarchies through which power was exercised.  Because there was a multiplicity of authorities, Rwandans developed a political culture which was dynamic and accustomed to pragmatic arrangements.  This gave the state a flexibility in adapting to situations that, for example, is not found in ordinary bureaucratic structures that are heavier slower moving.  

The fourth characteristic was the importance of personal ties.  This derived in part from the third characteristic from this dynamic multiplicity of authorities.  It meant that the political fortunes of a person could rise quickly and could fall quickly.  Because of this, there was a need for protectors within the system.  This lead to what has been described as, "instrumental friendships or patronage client relationships", that also, was important during the period of the genocide because in some instances we find personal connections among people could be more significant in determining their conduct than the hierarchical relationship that you found on the paper.  For example, if some one were the cousin or the brother in‑law or the nephew of a person who had taken a position of importance in the interim government, that person in turn would have greater authority not in an illegitimate official sense, but in unofficial sense, greater authority, perhaps even more than in his hierarchical superior.  So there was built into a system a great deal of complexity.  

The growth of the state led to the development of strata.  Divisions in society linked to wealth and power.  Now the elite who held power and wealth felt themselves superior to others.  That's not unique to Rwanda.  Most elites in the world in one way or another, feel themselves superior to others in the society.  

So the feeling of eliteness or superiority was not particularly unique to Rwanda nor was it particularly rigid because with the dynamism of the system: people could move into or out of the elite depending on the favourite king or the Queen, depending on their success in battle; depending on how many children they had given ‑‑ had had procreated.  Because, in some sense your power depended on the number of people who had to support you in the system.  So there was a development of strata.  These strata were known in Kinyarwanda by the term, uwoko.  Now, U‑W‑O‑K‑O.  This is a term which means in its simplest sense genius, kind, and sought.  But it became identified over time as the term to describe ethnic group.  When I first, as a young student of history, began collecting history in Rwanda, I asked people who told me history what were their genealogies and their uwoko.  Why because there are no family names.  And to situate a person and be able to find him or her later, I needed to know information such as the uwoko.  When I first began my historical research in the 1960s, if I asked uwoko,  often the response I would get was not ethnic group but rather, clan, because the clan identifications such as abenga, abanyiginya, in the 1960s were an important part of people's social identity.  

By the time of l994, the term uwoko ordinarily was taken to mean ethnic group and not clan affiliation.  So here in my life time as a researcher, I saw a transformation in the categories people used ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Please give the spellings whenever you use Kinyarwandan term. 

THE WITNESS:

Okay.  The one term I have used so far is uwoko, and that term changed in meaning over a period of decades.  And now, although the term is no longer officially part of the Rwandan government identity system, I believe most Rwandans today, if they use that term, use it to mean their ethnic group and not their clan affiliation.  

So with the development of the state, these strata which became ethnic groups over time took shape.  At the end of the 19th century, Rwanda was in a phase of expansion.  The Court was headed by a king, who was Tutsi.  He carried out his expansion with groups that were both Hutu and Tutsi, using today's terms.  The people whom he attacked were Hutu and Tutsi.  I stress this because the simplification of history, the mystification, the creation of historical myths on both sides leads, on the one hand, to an account of history where an overwhelmingly powerful Tutsi king rose forward and slays the Hutu without question and establishes a repressive regime for 400 years.  It didn't happen that way, nor did it happen that there was a happy kingdom where everyone treated each other with love and good humor.  It was a state like any state bound to expand and in expanding it used war.  The people whom it expanded over were people whom we would today call Tutsi, and people whom we would today call Hutu.  It didn't matter.  The point of the exercise was expansion. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

When you say.  "It didn't matter."  Do you mean to say with the acquisition of wealth could a person change his identity?  

THE WITNESS:

Yes, Your Honour.  But what I was referring to was the campaigns of military expansion.  And when I say; "It didn't matter", I mean that the king did not decide, "I will attack only Hutu."  He decided, "I want to expand to the northwest, and the people who are in the way, be they be Hutu or Tutsi, will have to accept my control".  In the same way some of the people attacked were already in state structures.  They had their own small states and they were defeated, or he made an alliance with them.  In other cases the people attacked were in lineage systems and had no state.  And, again, as far as we can tell, there was not much distinction.  If the expansion was heading in that direction and the Rwandan troops were able to carry it forward, they carried it forward, whether there was a state there, whether there was a lineage structure there.  This is simply to help you to understand that the argument, that the Tutsi as a group, ethnic group, have for centuries been set upon conquering the Hutu as an ethnic group, does not reflect historical reality.  It is a political myth.  

The Rwandan state expanded and expanded with violence.  It expanded with diplomacy.  It bought off its enemies in same cases if it could, and it did this whether the enemy was Hutu or Tutsi. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

So what you say is that, early attacks were really only for expansion not on ethnic diversity?  

THE WITNESS:

Yes, Your Honour.  Early attacks were for expansion without an ethnic element as such.  The Rwandan king attacked the king of Gisaka.  Gisaka was a predominantly Tutsi kingdom.  It attacked the kingdom of Ndorwa (phonetic).  It tried to go into states in Uganda.  It was simply a state ruling.  

The change -- the important change in the relationships among groups resulted in large part from the establishment of the colonial administration.  This began in 1900, very late in the history of colonialism.  The Europeans who arrived were very impressed with what they saw.  A functioning state of fair degree of control and order.  And a court culture, impressive because of its command of poetry, history, dance music, songs.  

The Europeans, who came to Rwanda, as elsewhere in the world, came with a set of racist ideas.  They understood the world ‑‑ they understood humanity to be defined in a latter with the white man at the top and other peoples in other parts of the world further down.  As they looked at Rwanda and saw the Rwandan state, they saw a ruling elite, that in part looked vaguely like them, physically, because the king and some of his escorters were tall, slender, had narrow features.  And this fits their conceiting of the universe, because they thought, these people are more like us than other Rwandans, who are shorter, thicker, have different features.  So, of course, they are more intelligent and, of course, they should rule.  And it was with this unconscious exercise of racial prejudice that they reinforced the existing political structure.  Now, of course, it was also cheaper.  It was cheaper to rule Rwanda through the existing state than to bring in a number of colonial servants.  And at one time Germany the first colonial power had only seven representatives in the kingdom of Rwanda because they ruled through the Rwandan court.  

Their intention was not to make major changes.  Their intention was not divide and rule.  Their intention was to maximum the profits of a home country, but because the system was, as I described, complicated, dynamic, hard to get hold of, they wanted to tide it up a little bit here and there.  So they made changes that in their eyes were not so fundamental, but which altered the balance of power within the state, because their conviction was, that the Tutsi, were superior and had a right to rule.  They eliminated Hutu who had had positions of power.  They also eliminated women, women that had had positions of power as well.  And that also excluded because naturally in their conception women also were inferior.  So the delivered power or they rather maximised the power, increased the power of the Tutsi because they thought that was the most efficient way to rule.  

The added resources being able to draw on those added resources of European power meant that the state could expand outward and downward in a way it had not done previously.  This led to two important developments.  The outward expansion allowed the central state to control, particularly the northwest in a way it had not done before much more intensively.  This was at the call of the regional struggle which becomes important in explaining why Habyarimana took power through a military coup.  It’s also important in understanding the regionalism that happened during the genocide where northerners killed southerners and in some cases southerners took action against northerners.  So, expanded the state outsides, expanded the state downwards and allowed these elite to make far more extensive demands on ordinary people than it had made previously.  

At the same time, to finish this up, it set the privilege of power exclusively in the hands of Tutsi and developed a mechanism to identify Tutsi that hadn't existed before.  Why?  Because colonial administrations like bureaucracy.  They liked things written down that they can refer to.  And in Rwanda because ethnic ‑‑ what we now call ethnic identification was relatively flexible.  That was a destabilising element for a colonial administration.  They wanted to know who was Hutu and who Tutsi.  Why?  Because if you were a Tutsi, you could get a job in the administration; you could have access to schools, to higher education.  If you were Hutu, that was almost impossible.  So they wanted to know who had the ticket of admission and who didn't, and they wanted it clearly establish it once and for all.  And for that reason they established a registration system which recorded ethnic identification.  A corollary of that was that citizens who were adults were required to carry an identity document upon which their ethnic classification was noted.  That became the ticket, the admission ticket to power and privilege. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

What is the yardstick which they used to give this ID?  

THE WITNESS:

I beg your pardon. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

What is the yardstick they use to say that why gave IDs to various people?  Did they use any yardstick?  

THE WITNESS:

A very interesting question.  As far as I can determine, the identification was self identification.  That is they asked people; are you Hutu, Tutsi or Twa, and people could say which they were.  A myth which has existed for sometime is that anyone who has ten cows became a Tutsi.  That's myth.  If you take the number of cows in Rwanda at the time the system was established and you divided it by the number of Tutsi, you didn't come out with ten.  So it's a very simple thing to find out.  

We know that ethnic identity can change.  People can fill part of one group and then change their identity, especially for personal interest.  The first random sample of the Rwandan population was done in 1909 by the Germanys.  At that time 1.5 percent of the population in the northwest claimed to be Tutsi.  2.5 percent in the central Kingdom claimed to be Tutsi.  20 years later, the number of people claiming to be Tutsi was in some cases 16 percent, in some cases, 25 percent.  The Tutsi as a group, generally have a lower birth rate than Hutu.  So clearly the only explanation as the people who had once not considered themselves as Tutsi began to consider themselves as Tutsi.  Why?  Because it was in their advantage to do so.  

So that is the early history which provides something of a background.  The other important element is that this history has been the subject of many myths.  The early Europeans wanted to understand where did this complicated state come from?  And they sought out the historian as a -- for their information.  Court historians in Rwanda as in other states tend to exaggerate the power and control of the ruler.  So that the early versions of history were a thesis of the European expectations and racism and the ideals of the Rwandan court historians and they created a version of history where the Tutsi were not contested whereby their intelligence and their military power.  They simply moved into Rwanda from outside and took control.  This far underestimated the power of the Hutu.  It did not give sufficient account to the importance of the Hutu element in Rwandan history.  But that myth of the greater Tutsi predominance became important in the genocide as it had been important in the middle of the century with the revolution because it was stood on its heads but it was not undone.  Stood on its head in the sense that the idea continued that the Tutsi were overwhelmingly powerful, but instead of this being a positive value as it was with the court historians, it became a negative value because it was proof of the Tutsi repression and the suffering imposed upon the Hutu.  It was the same myth but it was given a negative sign instead of a positive sign.  And this was an essential part of the propaganda of the genocide. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

One more question.  Witness, you said that the colonial administration called them and asked them to which side they belonged as to whether they are Hutus or Tutsis.  And if they knew that the ‑‑ if when ‑‑ they claim as Tutsis they were getting some position, why did the large majority did not claim? 

THE WITNESS:

In any society there's a limit to ‑‑ there are social pressures exerted in any situation.  And someone who was obviously very poor or obviously from a region where there has been virtually no Tutsi president, would have found it difficult to say; "I am a Tutsi."  So there were limits to how far they could go.  There's a proverb, I believe, a Rwandan proverb, "the man who travels alone is always son of the king."  Meaning you need to have a certain space around you to make claims if those claims are not correct.  So if someone for example who was away from his home origin could describe himself as he wished, but someone who is embedded in his own local context, and was known to all his neighbours would have found it a bit embarrassing to claim something that was patently untrue. 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Dr. Des Forges, when you use the phrase:  "Self declaration with respect to the identification system", is that another way of saying that the process of registration was arbitrary, that is the process of registration to Hutu, Tutsi or Twa was arbitrary rather than being genealogically determined? 

A.
No.  It was not arbitrary because each person ‑‑ at least each person in his or her home region had a context.  And because in principle, each person took the identity ‑‑ of the ethnic identity of his father.  A person whose father was known as Hutu would have some difficult claiming to be Tutsi.  So it was not arbitrary.  But it is clear that there was a certain -- built into the system which then would greatly reduce.  It did not vanish but was greatly reduced when this was reduced to paper.  Because once it was recorded in the local office that you were Hutu, it wasn't impossible to change, but it was more complicated.  You had to bribe people.  You had to make some arrangements in order to do that.  So once it was put on paper it became a far more rigid and clear cut distinction.  The fact that it was put on paper at the same time that you had the increasingly repressive control of the Tutsi elite, meant that the perceived resentment, the reasons for resentment on the part of Hutu, could be more clearly fixed.  And it was the growth of this power of the elite in combination with it’s increasingly exclusively Tutsi composition that led to the sentiment of solidarity of Hutu as an oppressed group.  Because if you look at the 19th century, Hutu do not identify as Hutu.  They identify as the people of the region or as the people of a lineage or as the people of a planned group.  So the Hutu identity like the Tutsi identity become considerably accentuated and solidified as a result of the colonial experience. 

Q.
Thank you.  In your opinion what if any impact did the ID card system have on the social political life of Rwanda in a long term sense? 

A.
The identity card system?

Q.
The ID card system.

A.
What was the ticket of admission to power and privilege became the death warrant.  That in a nutshell is the importance of the system because even after independence, even after the revolution which supposedly overturned the system, identity cards remained part of the daily live.  And as the card had once guaranteed power and privilege to Tutsi after 1959, it rather consigned them to category of discriminated against people.  And eventually it became as I said, at barriers, in churches, in commune offices, in stadiums, it became the death warrant of the person carrying that card. 

Q.
You mentioned in your report the events leading to the 1959 revolution in Rwanda.  Are you able to shed some light on the circumstances of the revolution and its relevance to the events of l994? 

A.
The 1959 revolution in Rwanda took place in the context of anti‑colonial movements in Asia and in Africa.  The ruling elite which had been much favoured by the colonial administration was, of course, in the best position because of its education and connections to understand and identify with the anti‑colonial movement.  In part to counter these Tutsi identification with desire for greater independence, in part because there were some amongst Belgian administrators by mid century who began to believe it was wrong to support the power of a minority.  For both these reasons, the colonial administration began to open the door a little crack to the Hutu, both by allowing, increasing numbers of Hutu into higher education.  By granting them jobs in the administration and by establishing a limited form of election.  

Now this was not much but for those Tutsi most accustomed to exclusive power and no questions were asked.  It was too much.  This was not unusual occurrence in history that when you begin to make changes in a system so that the people who have not shared fully in political power begin to get larger aspirations and to want more and more.  At the same time you have those people who have held power increasingly determined to hold on to it.  And the result is, you are set on a collision course which leads to a violent confrontation.  That is what happened in Rwanda, with the added complication that once the situation became violent the colonial administration clearly put its influence to the benefit of those asking power rather than those seeking to return power.  This led them to the eventual overthrow of the Tutsi monarch, the flight of the Mwami and his immediate supporters, some of whom were Hutu.  It was not exclusively ethnically determined because there were Hutu who were part of the court.  It lead to their flight out of the country and then to a period of attacks launched from outside the country and reprisals then taken inside the country against the Tutsi who had stayed behind.  

This is an important historical aspect which is referred back to in the propaganda of the genocide period, when there is an attempt to portray the 1959 revolution as a great and overwhelming and heroic historical event.  In fact, it was not such an extraordinary thing and the violence surrounding the period had to do more with the years after the revolution than the revolution itself.  The revolution itself was relatively small scale.  But once the Tutsi who had fled outside the country reorganised to begin some military raids, and incursions into the country that then provided the opportunity for the Hutu who had recently taken power in the country to launch reprisals against Tutsi civilians.  Why did they do so?  Apparently, and here my analysis depends on the historian Lemaochand L‑E‑M‑A‑O‑C‑H‑A‑N‑D.  Rene.   R‑E‑N‑E, because I have not myself investigated this in great detail.  But according to Lemaochand there were two reasons.  First of all the new Tutsi chiefs were insecure in their power.  And by demonstrating that they could control life and death of the Tutsi, they became stronger.  

Secondly, by driving Tutsi away, killing them or driving them away, they had access to the land and other property left behind.  They could then redistribute this among their own followers and thus built their ‑‑ and their base of support.  This becomes very important in 1992, '93, '94 when there's a strong call both official and through propaganda.  A strong call to Hutu to remember the revolutions and defend ‑‑ the gains of the revolution and this in two senses, political power, again at the revolution but in a very concrete material sense, the land you are living on.  Which for a substantial number of people they had received as a result of the flight of Tutsi.  So that the appeal to Hutu to mobilise was an appeal based on fear and fear of the return Tutsi power and of the fear of the loss of land.  And remember Rwanda is an agricultural country where 90 percent of the people live from their lands.  So this is an appeal that has widespread importance.  You are talking about the basis of survival of your family when you are talking about the possibility of losing your land.  So this part of the revolutionary experience becomes a central idea at the time of the 1990s because the call is, we are sons of the soil, we must protect our land, we must protect against the Tutsi invaders.  

Q.
Thank you, Madam.  Now what form of political system or arrangement was put in place in Rwandan after the monarch was ousted? 

A.
The new system was a republic -- a presidential republic headed by a president.  The institutional structure is probably less important than the actual power base.  The power base defined geographically was the central province of Rwanda, Gitarama, G-I-T-A-R-A-M-A and the northwest, particularly Ruhengeri.  R-U-H-U-N-G-E-R-I.   Over time the people in the south and centre were perceived as taking more than their share.  So a regional hostility developed between the people of the centre and the people of the northwest.  Juvénal Habyarimana, military officer, was a son of the northwest, the President Kayibanda and most of his immediate political retinue were people of the centre with the south, because of the regional rivalries and the sentiments of the northerners who had helped to make the revolution when getting their share.  There was a coup de tat by Habyarimana and other military officers to overthrow Kayibanda and that led to the creation of the second Rwandan republic. 

Q.
Thank you. 

A.
If I could just make one remark about the continuing importance of this.  That regional rivalry between the north, northwest and the centre continues into the period of the genocide.  And one issue that becomes very important is the fate of the first president and about 50 of his immediate cabinet ministers and supporters.  

Under Habyarimana, those men were arrested, confined in inhumane conditions.  And some of them starved to death, others killed outright.  This remains a really cause of anger among the people of the centre and south towards the northerners.  And one of the issues at the time of the attempt to put the Arusha Accords into place was the question of preserving a large enough majority in the assembly to present an impeachment of Habyarimana.  Now by this time there were many crimes that could be led to his door.  But the one he apparently was most worried about was being brought to justice for having led to the killing of his predecessor and those other fathers of the first republic, because there was a lot of sentiment that to kill the father of first republic was an ennoble and horrible thing to have done.  So that becomes one of the reasons why you get a continuing scramble at the end of 1993 and early l994 over this question of, who will have the most parliamentary seats?  The question is, how can Habyarimana preserve a two third majority to avoid being impeached, so that he does not have to answer before a court for these killing of the first republic leaders. 

Q.
Thank you, Madam.  Now earlier on you spoke about attacks and reprisals in the 60s as I understood you.  Now have you documented in the course of your research any of these attacks and reprisals? 

A.
This has certainly not been a major focus of my work, but I have, in the course of collecting other testimonies, occasionally had elements of the -- relating to the 1960s violence but my interpretation as I mentioned before, depends to a large extent on the work of  Lemaochand  who did an extensive history of this period.  It was a period when some of the terminology of the l994 genocide and the period right before, comes into common usage.  For example the term Inyenzi,  I-N-Y-E-N-Z-I, which an ordinary – could mean cockroach, was a term used in the 1960s introduced by Tutsi themselves to describe their raiding parties into the country and then that term taken over by others to become eventually a term of problem against them.   The other term which becomes commonly used at that point is gukora, 


G-U-K-O-R-A, meaning literally “to work”.  By coming to mean to attack and eventually to kill Tutsi.  

The violence of the 1960s resulted in the loss of thousands of lives, but not hundreds of thousands of lives.  The earliest subjects of attacks,   the earliest targets were politically chosen rather than ethically chosen.  But as I described, as the raids continue and the reprisals continue, the circle of targeted people rose and it  rose eventually to encompass Tutsi in general, because that was to the advantage of the authorities. 
MR. PRESIDENT:

Witness, you said that in 1960s northerners still not getting their share of power, and that is why the coup had to take place.  But the person who implemented the coup, namely President Habyarimana was in a position to get into the system and go -- come up to the position of the commander of the army.  How do you explain that? 

THE WITNESS:

It is often characteristic of a colonial regimes to favour one group of the people for one kind of work and another group for another.  The Belgians tended to favour the people of the northwest for military occupations.  So that Juvénile Habyarimana from the northwest was already the most important military officer in 1973; whether he was the initiator or the sole initiator of the coup, I do not know, but certainly he was the person who was then able to step forward to take leadership and to then carry forward this transformation in the political system.  And this is interesting to know as an example of the military moving into civilian life and then becoming assimilated into civilian functions. 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
How was the new government of Habyarimana received by Rwandans? 

A.
In the months preceding the actual coup, there was a period of harassment, persecution and violence of Tutsi.  Tutsi who had, through one way or another managed to hold on to places in schools or in profitable occupations were driven away.  And there was another wave of Tutsi who fled the country although much smaller in number than the 1960s.  A certain number of Tutsi were killed.  I am not sure how many.  It was not a large number, although there are people who refer to 1973 as a genocide.  I am not of that opinion.  I believe the number of victims was perhaps in the vicinity of 100.  But it created an atmosphere of renewed insecurity and violence, so that when Habyarimana launched the coup, he was able to present himself as the peace maker, ridding in, on his white horse to restore calm.  In that sense he was well received by most people except, of course, those Hutu of the centre whose early leaders Kayibanda and other were now arrested.  So naturally with that group this was not a popular action but it is worth noting that Habyarimana in the early days established a relatively effective and harmonious working relationship with Tutsi.  So it is wrong to depict the history of Rwanda as an unbroken genocidal wave beginning in 1959 or perhaps earlier.  After the violence of 1973, Habyarimana’s government was well received by Hutu and Tutsi, except for those people who were the supporters of the previous republic. 

Q.
Have you formed any opinion, madam, whether the power base of Habyarimana was the same as that of Kayibanda? 

A.
It was, of course, different in regional terms because of his base of power was the northwest.  And to a certain extent at least in part and ethnic terms as well because Habyarimana was as I said at the start well open to cooperation with Tutsi than was Kayibanda. 

Q.
And in terms political structure and mobilisation, how did the regime of Habyarimana compare to that of Kayibanda? 

A.
There were certain similarities but in short you could say Habyarimana did it better.   That is to say, both republic started out as multiparty arrangements and both, soon after became single part states.  But it was under Habyarimana that this was carried through with the more systematic and effective and efficient organisation.  Like many one party states, essentially what this mean was, you had parallel structures, the political party, the administrative system.  And the same person occupied the same rank. So that at the district level, at the commune level, the bourgmestre whether head of the commune was also the head of the MRND branch.  At the prefectural level the same thing and so on.  And Habyarimana himself, at the top crowns the structures of party and state simultaneously.  Like many of these systems there was a great deal of propaganda to idealise and make heroic Habyarimana.  People wore little portrait pins of Habyarimana on their clothes.  His picture, of course was not just in office buildings but in shops, in private homes.  When people took posts, even a post like a university lecturer, they swore allegiance to Habyarimana.  So he was a personification of state power in many ways.  He had it at his command the official structures of the military forces, of the administration, the territorial administration of the political party and then unofficial structures like the office for the production of tea or those parastatal trade organisations because he controlled the appointment to those agencies.  People at the university, people at the hospitals knew that in some sense or other they owed their positions to Habyarimana.  So that when people were called out once a week to sing his praises and to dance and to make out poetry in his praise, they did so.  This is also not unique to Rwanda; there are other states in the world where this happens.  But Habyarimana did it very well.  The efficiency of his administration in the early years particularly made Rwanda a model in the eyes of many foreign aide agencies because Rwanda was a place where the project ‑‑ where the court was met and it was these kinds of considerations which meant that in the early years, the Habyarimana government was one of the few than in Africa to escape the burden of foreign debt.  It actually did relatively well, up through the earlier mid 1980s when the situation turned bad.  So that Habyarimana had a very efficient, a very successful administration in that early years. 

Q.
Yes, thank you, Dr. Des Forges.  In your report you discussed the umuganda system, of what importance is this system in the national life of Rwanda from the 1970s up until the genocide, in l994? 

A.
Umuganda U‑M‑U‑G‑A‑N‑D‑A, was obligatory unpaid labour for the public good or in principle for the public good.  I think it was not, always exclusively for the public good but in principle, yes.  This meant that citizens were obligated to turn out to help build or repair roads, build school, clinics and so on.  The obligation to do umuganda was theoretically an obligation linked to the party, rather than to the state.  But because the two were so intertwined, in essence it become like a state obligation.  The person responsible for ensuring that party obligations were met had, as his area of supervision, ten households.  So to understand the extent to which the state was able to reach out and control the lives of ordinary citizens, of control which becomes extremely important at the time of the genocide, is important to see that the pyramid of national préfecture, sub‑préfecture communes, secteur, cellule, then also had these other unofficial level of the person responsible for ten households.  And obviously if you have a control which includes, control to the level of ten households, you have a very strong administrative system.  It doesn't guarantee obedience.  And I insist upon the autonomy, the possibility for citizens to make individual determinations because people who live in a system like that find ways to deal with it.  They find ways to be on the bed, or they have a headache or to have malaria attack, when one comes knocking at the door.  So there are ways that the individual can avoid of complete and automatic obedience to the state.  But at the same time you must understand the multiple possibilities the state had for reaching citizens to convey messages and orders to them.  

Another aspect of that control was, of course, the control over the media, because there was one radio.  It was the national state radio.  And the radio was more important than the written press in communicating to citizen.  It was, in fact the voice of the state.  The radio announced the appointment of préfets.  Governors were informed over the radio that they now had a new job of being governor.  The results of entrance examinations to the university were announced over the radio.  It was as an official voice of the state upon which the president himself spoke with great regularity.  Little snippets of presidential speeches would precede or follow the news broadcasts.  But the radio had even broader importance because it also touched people's personal and social lives.  

The obituaries were on the radio.  That was how you knew if someone had died.  And when and where the funeral would be held.  So that this presence of the radio in the lives of ordinary people was of enormous importance and becomes, of course, one more force for promoting popular mobilisation during the genocide.
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BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Madam, on the basis of your research as a historian, what is your assessment of the relationship between the armed forces of Rwanda and the Habyarimana government from the time he took over power in 1973 to 1994? 

A.
Habyarimana, himself, was the most important military officer, the head of the military hierarchy for many years, the minister of defence, and he placed military officers in posts that would ordinarily appear to be civilian posts, for example, minister of health or head of a seminary, because these were the people whom he trusted.  

The ‑‑ one of the first measures taken when a political opposition grew up against Habyarimana was to attempt to separate the military from the civilian and the political, so that the ‑‑ with the introduction of multiple political parties, came the prohibition against military officers belonging to a political party.  It took many months for Habyarimana to conform to this part of the constitution.  But he did finally, apparently with great reluctance, agreed to cede his active military status in order to remain as president of the republic and to cede his leadership role in the MRND political party.  The military, nonetheless, continued to play an important role in political life.  And the divisions, regional and party divisions that existed in political life found their counterpart ‑‑ found their mirror image in the army, and was a source of serious concern on occasion to military officers.  

The continued closed functioning of military and civilians, finally is carried through the genocide period in the civilian self‑defence system.  So that was a return to the important role played by military figures in political life and, of course, the establishment of the interim government itself was the direct result action by the military.  It was not an initiative of the political parties, that we know, for sure.  It was military officers who called that government into existence.  

MR. JEGEDE: 

Your Honours, it is 4 o'clock.  Are we taking the break now?  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Court is adjourned for ten minutes.  
(Court recessed from 1600H to 1620H) 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Mr. Jegede, you may continue. 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Dr. Des Forges, we will now move to the 1990 era in Rwandan history.  Was there an epochal event, if I may ask you, in October 1990 that significantly impacted the history of Rwanda? 

A.
Yes, a political, military movement known as the Rwandan Patriotic Front or the RPF launched military operations across the border of Rwanda on October the 1st, 1990. 

Q.
The ‑‑ did you give us the name of the movement? 

A.
The Rwandan Patriotic Front. 

Q.
Thank you.  Are you able to explain to the Court the objectives of the RPF and the circumstances surrounding the invasion at that time? 

A.
The RPF included a substantial number of Rwandans who had either themselves or their parents, being forced into exile in the 1960s or in 1973.  That group of refugees who had clustered in the countries surrounding Rwanda, that is, Uganda, what was known as Zaire, today Democratic Republic of Congo, Burundi and Tanzania, had lived many of them in very difficult circumstances, although in some countries, such as Tanzania, there had been some integration of refugees into the local population.  In other countries that had not been the case, those refugees based in Uganda were instrumental in organising the RPF.  And one of their stated goals was to enable the return of refugees in numbers as they wished, as they determined, when they determined, back to their homes in Rwanda.  

Until that time the government had permitted the selective return of certain persons, but had not allowed for the massive of refugees.  Some negotiations were on the way at that point, but as 

Colonel Nsengiyumva wrote in October ‑‑ after the October invasion, "There was no guarantee they would succeed."  Colonel Nsengiyumva, N‑S‑E‑N‑G‑I‑Y‑U‑M‑V‑A, the officer in charge of intelligence for the Rwandan general staff.  The other stated goal of the RPF was to open up the political system to allow Rwandans to participate in a political system free of the increasingly exclusive control of 
President Habyarimana. 

Q.
Thank you, madam.  Was the invasion of October 1st, the only attack in that month or were there others? 

A.
The invasion of October 1st was the only actual invasion of the country, but the night of the 3rd to 

4th October, there was considerable gunfire in the city of Kigali, and the morning after, authorities announced that the city had been attacked by the RPF.  An announcement which was initially accepted ‑‑ widely accepted by diplomats and foreign journalists, but which appears difficult to credit, given that the RPF troops were at that time some 40 or 50 miles away. 

Q.
What was the reaction or response of the Rwandan government to the October 1st attack and to the other one you described as not the real attack? 

A.
The circles surrounding President Habyarimana, and the president himself, were at that time under increasing attack and criticism by internal political opponents themselves, Hutu.  So, it was not an ethnic issue at all.  It had to do with accusations of corruption in the government, nepotism, the increasing favouritism of Habyarimana for his region and his own immediate family or his wife's family.  

In those circumstances, the authorities, or some of them, viewed the attack, of course, in part, as a threat, but also as an opportunity.  An opportunity which we have seen, unfortunately, taken by numerous leaders of numerous nations to attempt to build their political power on the fear of their citizens.  So, in this case, there was an attempt to use the apparent threat posed by the RPF invasion as a way to solidify, solidarity among Hutu, and to restore the kind of more general popularity and support that Habyarimana and his regime had been losing.  

With the apparent attack, or supposed attack on the capital on the 3rd and 4th of October, the morning following, authorities began arresting Tutsi who became accused of being accomplices of the RPF, although Habyarimana himself steered clear of any explicit pronouncements.  One of his ministers said at the time, "Obviously, there must have been accomplices, infiltrators ‑‑ accomplices and infiltrators within the national capital to make this kind of attack possible.  And it is the people of the same ethnic group, that is, the Tutsi, who are the most likely accomplices of the invaders."  So the majority of people arrested were Tutsi, and in the end, some more than 10 or 11,000 people were arrested, held without charge, often in inhumane circumstances for weeks or months.  Some were beaten to death.  Among those arrested were also members of organisations or possible groups perceived as opposed to Habyarimana and his supporters.  Those people were Hutu.  

And this was the initial indication of a serious fear within Habyarimana and his followers that they could lose the support of Hutu opponents and that, indeed, those same opponents could allied with the RPF.  In part, the attempt to discredit Tutsi as accomplices was linked to the desire to make all associations with them unthinkable for any ordinary Hutu.  By equating Tutsi to the enemy, to the invaders, it became more difficult for Hutu to consider working with them to oppose Habyarimana.  

There was a document in early January 1991.  It spoke of this risk and of the need to avoid that possibility of Hutu combining with Tutsi, and Tutsi combining with RPF.  So the fear was, in part, of the external invasion, but also of the internal erosion of political control.  One way to stop the erosion and to promote greater control, was to scapegoat or to single out those members of the Tutsi ethnic group as an enemy in order to encourage all Hutu to come together once more to accept the unquestionable leadership or to accept unquestioningly the leadership of President Habyarimana. 

Q.
Now, madam, you speak of arrests of persons described as accomplices.  Can you tell us in what part of the country those arrests were made? 

A.
Initially, the arrests were concentrated in the capital of Kigali and in other urban centres, particularly the town of Butare, B‑U‑T‑R‑E, in the south and then spread outward to touch as well, some of the rural districts.  At the same time, there was the first occurrence of violence against Tutsi in mid October.  

Only two weeks after the start of the war, the first killings of Tutsi civilians by other civilians in the commune of Kibilira, K‑I‑B‑I‑L‑I‑R‑A, approximately, 300 people were killed.  Many of their bodies were thrown in the nearby river as an easy way to dispose of their remains.  

After considerable international outcry, the national government, President Habyarimana sent gendarmes, national policemen to Kibilira, and in very short order and without firing a shot, they ended the violence against Tutsi.  So, it was a relatively simple matter, to the best of my recall, there were two and only two gendarmes necessary to end these killings of Tutsis, and yet it took three days for them to be sent.  The argument or the pretext of explanation given by authorities in this case, as in so many others, up to, and including the genocide, was that the people had risen up in fear and anger to attack their neighbours because they believed them to be RPF agents or accomplices.  The argument continued that the authorities had played no role in causing this violence and had, indeed, wished to end it, but lacked the resources to do so.  

In fact, when we investigated this case, we found that, as in others, local authorities and political leaders had created an atmosphere of fear by spreading rumours that the RPF was on the next hill, or that the RPF had killed an important military officer from the region, or that the RPF was planning to attack the school and kill children.  All of these were false.  And their propagation generated a sense of fear among Hutu which, for some, at least, then motivated them to attack Tutsi who were their neighbours.  

This same scenario, in general line, was played out on 15 more occasions before April 6, 1994.  The similar elements involving the propagation of rumours, the creation of a sentimental fear, the violence directed against Tutsi civilians, and ultimately, the supposed explanation by authorities that the violence had been spontaneous and they simply had lacked the resources to control it.  In only one of those cases were people arrested ‑‑ I beg your pardon ‑‑ in two of those cases, were people arrested, but in no case was anyone convicted so that the crimes were left unpunished. 

Q.
Based on your knowledge of Rwandan history, can you tell the Court whether Hutu, Tutsi relations were subject of comment within the military establishment in the days following the RPF attack? 

MR. BLACK: 

Does Mr. Jegede mean the murders committed by the RPF and were they disciplined and convicted?  Or what do you mean by that question?  Are you talking about the RPF attack and whether their officers were convicted of murders or what?  

MR. JEGEDE: 

Yeah, yeah, yeah ‑‑ no, no, no, the RPF attack of October 1st, and the fake one of October 1st. 

MR. BLACK: 

Are you asking whether anybody was ‑‑ any officers were convicted on ‑‑ are you talking about the attack by the RPF? 

MR. JEGEDE: 

I'm not talking about ‑‑  

MR. PRESIDENT:

No, Mr. Black, I think he never involved ‑‑ she said that civilians were prompted to attack their members, and although they have arrests, no one was convicted. 

MR. BLACK: 

Of course, she is not referring to ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

No, no, no. 

MR. BLACK: 

‑‑ murders by the RPF attack and the fact that they were not convicted either. 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Madam, do you understand my question?  I posed the question earlier on.  

A.
Yes.  Colonel Nsengiyumva who was the head of military intelligence, frequently commented on political questions, which seems perhaps surprising for someone whose domain is military intelligence, but he followed internal political developments very carefully and commented on them on a number of occasions.  

Subsequent to the beginning of the war in October 1990, he wrote in several letters expressing his concern about the divisions within the country and within the army, ethnic divisions, regional divisions, partisan divisions.  In one of those letters, he recommended that the army killings of civilians in northeastern Rwanda, in Mutara, be minimised so as not to make tensions within groups worse.  This referred to an incident in October when the Aviation Squadron mowed down civilians from the air in northeastern Rwanda.  Most of those civilians were in all likelihood Tutsis, because that was a region of heavy Tutsi population.  Some of them may also have been Hutu.  

In contrast to Kibilira which was remote from the battle front, it was on the side of Rwanda.  Mutara, where these other killings took place was, in fact, close to the zone of combat, and the military officers who engaged in mowing down civilians from their aircraft, were criticised by Colonel Nsengiyumva, or, at least, the report of their killings was criticised by Colonel Nsengiyumva, who said it would be best not to talk of such things. 

MR. BLACK: 

My friend asked which document she is referring to this collateral damage incident, as they call it in American army.  

MR. JEGEDE: 

Yes, we are going there now.  Your question will be answered in a short while. 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Madam, can you please go to the document listed as number 4 on the index of documents?  That's at tab 4 in your binder.  Have you found the document? 

A.
I have. 

Q.
Can you, for the record, identify the document in terms of date, the author and the subject? 

A.
This is a letter from Lieutenant Colonel Anatole Nsengiyumva, G‑2, which is the officer in charge of military ‑‑ intelligence in the general staff to the chief of staff of the Rwandan army.  It is dated, Kigali, 7th October 1990, and its classification number is, 084/G‑2.2.2.1.4, and its object is internal and external security of the country.  It has an ICTR number of L0010359. 

Q.
Are you familiar with this document? 

A.
I am familiar with this document. 

Q.
In relation to the writing of your report, can you tell the Court when you became familiar with the document? 

A.
I first saw the document at some point in 2002, I believe, and studied it more extensively in late 2002 and 2003. 

Q.
We see in this document the name "Linda Melven, Rwanda genocide archives, the Huge Owens library of University of Wales."  Are you in a position to advice the Court as to the significance of that notation? 

A.
Linda Melvin is a British journalist who travelled to Rwanda and who met President Kagame, and I believe, as a direct result of speaking to him, had access to the archives of the ‑‑ either ministry of defence or the general staff, and was permitted to copy a number of documents which she then took away and eventually deposited in the library of the University of Wales.  These are copies from that collection of documents and which are in the hands of the Office of the Prosecutor. 

Q.
Has this document, in any way, formed your opinion as regards the events in Rwanda between 

April to July 1994? 

A.
Yes, this document, like others, in that same collection, provided a unique opportunity to examine the thinking of some important military officers in the period before and during the genocide.  Obviously, documentary evidence is extremely useful in establishing historical facts, as well, I'm sure as judicial facts, and a document ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK: 

I'm sorry to interrupt you, Ms. Dr. Des Forges ‑‑  

THE WITNESS:

May I finish?  I don't want to be interrupted.

MR. BLACK: 

Well, I know, you don't, but I don't like to be confused.  And we don't ‑‑ we have the document she referred to and it mentions nothing about an attack or helicopters or anything or massacres.  

THE WITNESS:

You haven't given me the opportunity to explain it. 

MR. JEGEDE: 

Your Honours, Mr. Black should not cut off the witness in mid answer.  She was on her way to answering the question when she ‑‑ when he jumped off.  She is going to talk exhaustively about this document and you are going to have your turn during cross‑examination to ask whatever questions you have for her. 

MR. BLACK: 

But, sir, we are trying to follow on the document and the document she's referred to doesn't have anything to do with a helicopter attack on anybody.  So, is she referring to the right document?  

MR. JEGEDE: 

Okay. 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Madam, please, can you direct the Court's attention to the relevant parts of this document that we've spoken about? 

A.
If you would look at page L0010362, which represents page 4 of the document in question, at paragraph 12, subparagraph B, you will find the description of the incident of the killing of people at Kiramuruzi; K‑I‑R‑A‑M‑U‑R‑U‑Z‑I, by the E‑S‑C‑A‑B‑I, which I believe is the Squadron aviation or the Aviation Squad.  It's my understanding that it was a helicopter from which the shooting was done. 

MR. BLACK: 

Yeah, my confusion ‑‑ our confusion was that she referred to a massacre of civilians or an attack on civilians, that doesn't indicate an attack on civilians -- indicates an attack on people moving south.  And in the context of the letter, it looks to us like military.  She says that civilians, we can interpret that ‑‑ we don't see anything what she described in that letter. 

THE WITNESS:

I suggest you take your time to study the paragraph carefully and you will see exactly what it is I'm saying. 

MR. BLACK:

I read it and that's how I interpret it, but ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

Witness, you shouldn't get involved with the counsel now.
(Inaudible) 

MR. JEGEDE: 

As the Court pleases.  That was my knowledge of how proceedings should proceed, Your Honours.  He should wait for the witness to make her comments, and if he asks ‑‑ if he has a question to ask her, he can reserve that for cross‑examination.  

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
You may continue, Madam Des Forges? 

A.
The question, I believe, was, was this document and others like it, useful to me in forming my opinion, and I was explaining that, indeed, documentary evidence produced by the actors themselves, at the time of the incident in question constitute an important source of information for both historical and judicial analysis.  
This document, in particular, as I said, expresses Nsengiyumva's concern about potential divisions among Rwandans at this time.  And, perhaps it would be easiest if I read this.  I suppose I can use the English version.  I haven't checked the English translation.  But if we look at the English translation and for simplicity sake, use that one.  If the Court would please look at paragraph 12, subparagraph B, the context is that Nsengiyumva is writing to Habyarimana explaining what in his point of view are the important considerations at this point.  And he says in paragraph 12, subparagraph B, that "The contribution of the population is very vital.  And it is important to win the sympathy of the population.  It demands just a little, but it is necessary to think about that."  And he talks about running the risk of alienating the sympathy of the population.  

Now, I would like to draw your attention to one slight difference in translation here which I think is significant.  In the French, the third sentence in the document reads:  "You have to gain the sympathy of the population."  The next sentence is, "All one needs to do is to do little things."  It's only little things that we are talking about which makes it all the more shocking, that in the next paragraph he talks of not having been a good idea to mow down large numbers of people from a helicopter.  This is a small thing. 

MR. TAKU: 

Your Honours, I'm ‑‑ I'm very, very sorry, Your Honours.  I think at some point in time my colleague would like to tender this document, but I would like to say that all of us are lawyers.  We know the rules of interpretation.  The document is clear.  It speaks for itself.  We come here picking one sentence and say this is what he intended, or this is what he meant, or this ‑‑ Your Honour, I think, it wouldn't ‑‑ it wouldn't help the Court further.  Secondly, I say so because in paragraph 10, the witness had testified to some helicopter attack, and at that time it was not evident to me that she was referring to this document.  And it was when Mr. Black drew your attention to that, to the question of the helicopter, that she said that, indeed, she was talking about paragraph 10, and that some other sources said that, indeed, he was referring to that incident.  

And now, the problem now is this:  We do not know which other sources gave that interpretation to this document, which ex facie is very, very clear to all of us.  If there was any other on the line of historical event or some other event that happened, she should testify to that.  But to lead us in confusion that that event is actually in this document, I say it, Your Honours, I think it is very, very confusing. 

MR. JEGEDE: 

Your Honours, this is an expert.  She is ‑‑ why we have brought her here is to provide a factual context to the evidence in this case.  And here she has a document in front of her, she has read a paragraph from the document, and she is telling us what that ‑‑ that paragraph meant in the context of what was happening at that time.  She is an expert.  We've admitted her as an expert in history, and we all recognised her expertise.  So what is the problem?  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah, the document speaks for itself. 

MR. BLACK: 

Well, exactly.  She is not reading it accurately. It talks about Squadron – the aviation squadron at one moment fired on people moving from the ‑‑ to the south from this place and there are several deaths.  It didn't talk of massacre of civilians. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah, you can put questions to her when you get your turn, Counsel. 

MR. BLACK: 

But if the Prosecution put things through this witness, it should be put accurately, otherwise, we are going to jump up and say that's not what’s stated in the document. 

THE WITNESS:

I believe the authority misinterpreted it once. 

MR. BLACK: 

Well, Mr. President, if the witness ‑‑ if Mr. Witness ‑‑ if Madam Witness can, or through her counsel, put these things accurately and say, "This is exactly what it said, but I interpreted this way", that's fine, but not to put it inaccurately. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Counsel, she had a method of explaining her conduct and how she read this document, and what conclusion she reached.  So if you ‑‑ if you think that her conclusions are wrong and the document should have been read in a different way, you are entitled to put that at that stage. 

MR. BLACK: 

I'm not arguing about her conclusion.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah.  

MR. BLACK: 

I am arguing about the statement about what the letter said, word‑for‑word.  It's one thing to say it said this, and I think it means that, or it meant it's describing this situation.  But it's not to say it says this when it doesn't, and that leads to its conclusion.  So I am saying whatever they say has to be put accurately. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah, whatever ‑‑ whatever you are relying on, put it in a clear form for them to understand. 

MR. JEGEDE: 

Your Honours, I ‑‑ the problem here is that that I see ‑‑ 

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

I would like to seek your indulgence, Mr. President.  I object to certain procedures because you have an illustration here.  You said that she was an expert in history, but what she is doing now is interpreting a text, which is contradicting what the text itself says.  That is another difficulty.  So I submit that this type of interpretation is not part of her qualifications as an expert in history.  It can deal with something else.  It is her opinion, but it has nothing to do with the historical evolution.  I have actually studied in that area because she is actually pleading her own opinion.  She is not acting in her capacity as an expert in history 

MR. BÂ: 

Mr. President, there is a small problem.  Madam Des Forges has a document in front of her, and that document has an original and a translation.  She is bilingual.  So she can be justified in saying that the way she understood the text in French is not consistent with the translation into English.  This is what she said.  She is sufficiently at ease with languages to be able to determine whether a translation is faithful or not.

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah, that is how I understood it, because she was not in agreement with the translation, English translation.  That is why she went back to the French to explain what it really meant.  

MR. JEGEDE: 

As the Court pleases. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah, because the French is the original. 

MR. JEGEDE: 

And, Your Honours, to talk a little bit about what Mr. St‑Laurent had said, this is an expert witness.  We brought her here to give us an opinion of events in order to assist you, Your Honours, in understanding the evidence.  She is not a factual witness.  So he can't now come up and say, "No, she is not entitled to have opinions on matters." 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Counsel, I think you must realise this is ‑‑ this document is also a historical event which had been documented.  When she is qualified as a historian, I think she automatically qualified to speak on this document. 

MR. JEGEDE: 

Thank you very much, Your Honour.

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Witness, have you finished your assessment of the document?

A.
No.  

Q.
Please continue.  

A.
The next paragraph, Colonel ‑‑ Lieutenant Colonel Nsengiyumva writes, "I would like to underscore a negative factor which may alienate this sympathy from us", meaning the sympathy of the population.  "You know that within the context of the fight against the spread of the Inkotanyi," meaning the RPF, "the Air Force squad, at a given time shot at huge numbers of people not one or two, streaming to the south of Kiramuruzi, combat situation, firing upon a huge number of people moving south." 

Now, in the estimate of Lieutenant Colonel Nsengiyumva, because I wish to try to make clear of my reasoning, when I say, my judgement is that these were civilians, it is the judgement of Lieutenant Colonel Nsengiyumva, military intelligence senior officer, presumably experienced in combat situation, that this was unjustified and he ridiculed in the sentences that followed the idea that these could, in fact, had been combatants.  

If I may read:  "Many died", that is of the people shot from the air:  "Do you believe that the Inkotanyi, the RPF, who wanted to slip through, would move in great numbers in the day and in open country?"  In other words, the colonel ‑‑ in the lieutenant colonel’s estimation, there is no way these could have been a combatant force.  It is on the basis of those words his assessment that I rest my conclusion that these were civilians, and not a few, many died.  

MR. BLACK: 

Sorry, Dr. Des Forges.  Mr. President, I have a problem, because our French translation says, “plusieurs”.  My bad French means there are several deaths, not many deaths.  I don't know where she gets that from.  Could she indicate where she gets that “many death” from plusieurs?  

THE WITNESS:

That's the official translation. 

MR. BLACK: 

Well, the French says plusieurs, and Dr. Des Forges knows plusieurs mean several.  

THE WITNESS:

I am reading from the English. 

MR. BLACK: 

The French is the original. 

THE WITNESS:

But we can't deal with the French ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

It's only fighting with many means several.  So what is the difference?  

MR. BLACK: 

Well, “several” is more different than “many”.  I mean, it makes a difference in the interpretation of what she is talking about. 

MR. JEGEDE: 

But she can only comment on what she reads from the document.  She can't tell ‑‑ substitute her own translation for words in the document.  

MR. BLACK: 

Everybody knows what plusieurs means. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes. 

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Please continue, madam.  

THE WITNESS:

Your Honour, is it the preference of the Court that I work from the official translation or from the French, because I am equally ease with both, whichever you prefer? 

MR. PRESIDENT:

I am happy to follow English, but then if the others are happy with French, I will follow on that.  And if you ‑‑ if you think you will be convenient in any language you are free to follow that. 

MR. BLACK: 

Our preference is that if she is referring to a French document, if that's more accurate to use the French document than the English document, then use that.  But I have no trouble to using English if it's an accurate translation, but the original document is in French, and it used the word, “plusieurs”, and you could no way translate plusieurs as beau coup. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

I think, Witness, since you are familiar with both these languages, if you find that there is a discrepancy in the translation, you can bring that to the notice of the Court. 

THE WITNESS:

Okay, Your Honour, I will continue in French. 

(No interpretation) 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Mr. President, can the witness start again?  There was a technical problem. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah, Witness ‑‑ Witness, you are to help us out.  The interpreter did not pick you up because there ‑‑ so kindly start again. 

THE WITNESS:

They don't have a translation into French?  

MR. PRESIDENT:

No, they have it, but they didn't pick you up when you started.  

MR. JEGEDE: 

From what point, if I may ask? 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

From the moment she started reading in French. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Then you do it again, counsel ‑‑ Witness. 

THE WITNESS:

"Do you believe that the Inkotanyis who wanted to sneak in, would sneak in, in huge numbers during the daytime and in open territory?  Not at all.  Do you believe that the population would voluntarily accept to be used as cover to the enemies of the country by accompanying them in huge numbers through the hills?  I do not believe so.  This worries me a lot.  In a short while some people may take advantage of that allegation to attack the government, which is supposed to have shot at innocent members of the population.  This is something that is very delicate that must absolutely not be raised again, which on the contrary should be forgotten and not raised again."  

In looking at the document, the emphasis of the writer where he uses capital letters and he is ridiculing the idea that military officers could have thought the people they were shooting at were, in fact, enemy combatants.  But what is his reaction?  Is it, please, investigate promptly and bring them to justice?  It is, "No, do not talk about this again, let us forget it."  The estimates which we have indicate approximately 1,000 people were killed in this attack on a civilian population, and the reaction of the G‑2 officer of the general staff was, “forget it”.
MR. BLACK: 

If I may ask you, what do you mean, “we estimate there are thousand death”, who is "we", based on what information?  

THE WITNESS:

Cross‑examination question perhaps. 

MR. BLACK: 

Mr. President, if you can ask my friend to ask that question.  

MR. JEGEDE:

Your Honours ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

I can't direct him to have your questions ‑‑ 

MR. JEGEDE:

Exactly.  

MR. BLACK: 

I don't expect the witness to tell me what to do. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah, Witness, you don't get involved with him.  You will get a chance to meet him. 

MR. JEGEDE: 

Yeah, but, Your Honours, this is what happens when counsel engages in this kind of cross-talk with the witness.

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah.  Don't interrupt her also, because she is having a trend of thought.  So we will ‑‑  

MR. BLACK: 

This is my client's trial, not hers.  And if I don't understand what's going on, I need to clarify so I can defend my client.  It's not her trial.  It's my client’s trial. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yeah, Counsel, she can't be clarifying every minute, but you note down the unclear areas for you and you may put questions to her on those areas. 

MR. JEGEDE: 

Because what are we going to do in cross then, if we ask all the questions now?  

BY MR. JEGEDE:

Q.
Witness, please, can you continue now?  Have you finished?  You've finish?  It's okay, but if you still have something to say about the document, take your time and look at it and tell us.  

A.
At the ‑‑ in the period immediately after the beginning of the war, the government put in place some civilian defence measures, including patrols and barriers.  It is not clear at what point these were, more or less, discontinued except in the zone immediately near the border.  But through this letter which points out that people are getting annoyed at some of these measures, I would suggest that perhaps this is the beginning of the realisation that these measures should be relaxed because they are annoying the population. 

Again, the consideration is important here on the part of Lieutenant Colonel Nsengiyumva to build the political consensus, which is not a surprising attitude, but we see that developed in very unfortunate ways as the attempt to build consensus exclude the Tutsi citizens of the country and makes the assumption that only Hutu are to be part of the Rwandan people.  So, this is implied in this letter.  It is not clearly stated, but it does indicate its concerns with the divisions in the population and with the growing impatience of the people with measures imposed ad hoc by the military. 

Q.
Yeah.  Thank you, Witness.  If you are done, then ‑‑ 

MR. JEGEDE: 

I seek to tender this document as an exhibit, Your Honours.  And that would be P. 108. 

MR. BLACK: 

Well, I don't think you can do that, because you got no one to authenticate the document.  You have to have the author here or the recipient.  She can't authenticate it.  She doesn't know if it's forgery or written by him or not ‑‑ just from the Melven library.  So it can only be put as an ID document.  What we can't do, you can't do. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Without proof of authenticity, Mr. President, the only concession we can make is having the document file for identification.  At any rate, we would still recommend that proof of authenticity is provided.  We need, madam, to give us evidence of the provenance and trace of this document. 

MR. TAKU: 

Your Honours ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, I find a signature in the French document, and if someone comes to identify that signature, I think that should be done. 

MR. JEGEDE: 

Your Honours, I didn't ‑‑ I didn't understand what you said, Your Honour.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Since they are objecting to the filing of this document, there is a signature under the name, Nsengiyumva. 

MR. JEGEDE: 

Yes, Your Honours. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

So, we will ‑‑ 

MR. JEGEDE: 

No, no, no, Your Honours ‑‑ Your Honours, I intend to respond to that.  They've made their objections, but I intend to respond before we get a ruling. 

MR. TAKU: 

Your Honours, I joined my ‑‑ I joined my colleagues in this objection, Your Honour, because the foundation raised and the reasons for which it's been tendered goes to interpretation of the context and the content of some paragraphs of this particular document.  

That being the case, Your Honour, the question of authentification my colleagues raises becomes extremely very, very important for us, Your Honours, in order to be able to exactly challenge her on the context and the interpretation that she has given.
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MR. PRESIDENT:  

Yes. 

MR. JEGEDE:  

And Your Honours, my response is as follows:  This particular document was tendered as an exhibit in Military I, where the author, Colonel Nsengiyumva, is still an accused in that case.  He is still an accused in that case.  He did not raise any issues as to authenticity in that case and it was admitted as an exhibit, not as an ID.  Then, another thing I would like to add, Your Honours, when that document and those series of documents were being admitted, here is what Judge William said in the transcripts of 16th September 2002, page 63 line 6, I quote:  

"So, I just want to broaden that a little bit.  As I said earlier, we are not bound by national rules of evidence and the reason for that is this:  It is that this is an International Tribunal.  There is a great deal more flexibility because what the International Tribunal is most concerned about is getting to the truth, and also much having technical issues being put in the way of preventing us getting into the truth.  At the end of the day, if a document is admitted into evidence, then the Tribunal will weigh that evidence and determine what weight it should attach to it and how credible the particular document may or may not be.  

Now, I move to a second issue as to the specific document we are dealing with.  In our view, this document relates to matters that have arisen out of the report of the witness, and, indeed, she has given witness evidence in relation to the certain matters that exist at the time and this document is going no further than explaining some of those issues that took place at that particular time.  And for those reasons, the objection is denied, overruled and denied as the case maybe.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Mr. Jegede, what ‑‑ 

MR. JEGEDE:  

Sorry, Your Honours, Bagosora and others. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

In that case the difference is this that Nsengiyumva is an accused there.  

MR. JEGEDE:  

Yes, Your Honour.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

So we will, for this purpose, admit this as an ID.  

MR. JEGEDE:  

Your Honours, I have not finished my submission.  I believe I have to be given propitious condition as the Defence also state the position of the Prosecution.  

Apart from that, this is an expert witness.  An expert witness is different from a factual witness.  She is here to give us opinion on what she has seen.  Now, she is saying that I have seen this document and familiar with it; this is what I base my opinion on, and for me and to all intents and purposes, that document becomes an original, because it is original to her testimony.  Your Honours, I haven't finished.  The Tribunal's jurisprudence on this matter ‑‑ on this issue both here in ICTR and ICTY conform to ‑‑ they merge in the sense that ‑‑ they say that they matter such as authenticity, 
Your Honours, and proof of authorship goes to weight, and weight is assessed at the end of the evidence.  I want to refer Your Honours to another case which I believe we cited before, but we did not cite in respect to the issue of authenticity and proof of authorship, and that case is ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

The expert that you referred there is the same witness?  

MR. JEGEDE:  

Yes, same witness.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

So we have the same witness who had testified in Nsengiyumva saying that this is his document which he has not challenged.  So for this purpose we will admit this as an ID document, and if he has not denied that, we will take that also into consideration in determining the factors that she has spoken about with regard to this document. 

MR. JEGEDE:  

Your Honours, the ‑‑ when we say ‑‑ there is a distinction between an exhibit and an ID document.  When you have an exhibit, you can rely on that exhibit to write a judgment, but if it is an ID, it remains an ID.  It's not something ‑‑ but what I am saying, Your Honours, is that the jurisprudence of this Tribunal ‑‑ I was just going to get to that and I would crave Your Lordships indulgence to give me five minutes to do that.  And the case that I would like to call your attention to is the case of the  
Prosecutor versus Radoslav Lajani and Talic (phonetic).  It's dated ‑‑ well, it's a decision titled:  Order on the standards governing the admission of evidence," and it's dated 15th February 2002.  Your Honours, if we go to paragraph 14 and I would provide the photocopies to you, Your Honours.  We go to 
paragraph 18, it says:  

"The third guideline is that the mere admission of a document into evidence does not in itself signify that the statements contained therein will necessarily be deemed to be an accurate portrayal of the facts.  Factors such as authenticity and proof of authorship will naturally assume the greatest importance in the Trial Chamber's assessment of the weight to be attached to individual pieces of evidence.  This Trial Chamber agrees that the precious standard for the admission of evidence should not be set excessively high as often documents are sought to be admitted into evidence not as ultimate proof of guilt or innocence, but to provide a context and complete the picture presented by the evidence in general."  

And paragraph 19, Your Honours, reads:  "The fourth guideline is that when as has already happened in this case, objections are raised on grounds of authenticity, this Trial Chamber will follow the practice this Tribunal has previously adopted; namely, to admit documents and video recordings and then decide what weight to give to them in the context of the trial records as a whole."  

And finally, Your Honours, paragraph 20 says similarly, I quote:  "The fifth guideline is that the parties should remember there is no blanket prohibition on the admission of documents simply on the grounds that their purported author has not been called to testify.  Similarly, the parties should keep in mind the fact that an unsigned, an unstamped document does not a priori render it void of authenticity.  In fact, as rightly pointed out by the Prosecution,  the absence of a signature or an official seal may sometimes in itself be indicative of the pursuit of a criminal joint enterprise or possibly a method intentionally devised to avoid having the paternity of that document directly established.  As already stated, factors such as authenticity and proof of authorship will naturally assume the greatest importance in the 
Trial Chamber's assessment of the weight to be attached to all individual pieces of evidence."  

Your Honours, this is an international tribunal.  We are not in a national jurisdiction, and there has been many reasons advanced for why there is a liberal approach to the admissibility of evidence.  Here, we've just said this morning, Your Honours, that in view of the complex nature of the factual circumstances surrounding the crimes, we need a very low threshold of admissibility, and that is the standard that has been used both in this Tribunal and the ICTY.  Your Honours, I don't think we can be different here if we have a document that no one can really challenge that this document falls under Rule 95, for instance, that is the document obtained in methods that would cast the serious ‑‑ that would cast serious blight on this Tribunal, then, of course, we cannot and we would not even present that document for admission.  But when you have a document that is relevant; that is probative in line with Rule 89(C) of the Tribunal's, then, of course, that document ought to be admitted.  That has been the standard here in this Tribunal and that has been the standard in the ICTY.  This Trial Chamber cannot be an island, Your Honours.  It cannot be an island.  We have to swim with the others because that is the jurisprudence established for the proceedings before Your Honours.  

And, finally, this is ‑‑ 

MR. TAKU:  

Your Honours, we can't go on and on and on repeating the same things.  We have been repeating the same jurisprudence from the inception, Your Honours.  You ought to put an end to this, Your Honours. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Well, Counsel, let him finish. 

MR. JEGEDE: 

Your Honours, I would want to end my respond by recalling what Lord Atkins said in the case of 
United Australia Bank versus Barclays Bank Limited in 1941.  Then he was admonishing judges not to return to the time of the formulatory period in England when form, rather than the substance was the main consideration.  He said and I quote him ‑‑ let me just find the quotation.  He says:  

"When the ghost of the past stand in the path of justice planking their medieval chain, the proper course to take is for the judge to walk through them undeterred."  

So I am urging Your Honours not to allow yourselves to be hindered by technicalities in this case.  This is a mere technicality.  It will only impede you from getting to the truth and that is what your consecrated term ‑‑ your terms of reference ‑‑ one of your consecrated terms of reference is to get to the truth in the ‑‑ to the ‑‑ in the issues of facts ‑‑ facts in issue before Your Honours, the facts in controversy before Your Honours.  The only way to get to the truth is to look at all documents and look at all the evidence possible before you.  

Thank you.  

MR. TAKU:  

Your Honours, may I ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Are you going to say the same thing?  

MR. TAKU:  

No, Your Honour.  I just want to say that all the authorities cited are totally misconceived and they do not address the pertinent matter in issue here.  The fact is this, Your Honours:  Colonel Nsengiyumva is not here.  A document purported to have been written by him in the particular context was allegedly tendered in this proceeding in respect of a specific case; a specific indictment, which, Your Honours, the Prosecutor has not proved is the same as this particular one.  So, Your Honours, we are saying that to bring this document and tender it for the content to becomes part of an exhibit here, Your Honours, how does the Prosecutor expect the Defence to answer allegations about a document written by Colonel Nsengiyumva; what was his state of mind at the time he wrote them?  Your Honours, I say so with the deepest respect because the witness was trying to interpret this document.  She had the opportunity of doing that interpretation before Colonel Nsengiyumva when he was there and his lawyers were there, and for Colonel Nsengiyumva to answer them.  But in this particular case, to tender the document on the basis in which they intend to tender the document, the contents of this document, and having regard to the foundation laid in which she was interpreting paragraphs, how could Nsengiyumva, as a result ‑‑ I mean after the death of so many people, how could he have come to this conclusion?  It is only Nsengiyumva who could answer them.  That is why we are saying that this document can only be an ID document for the purpose that it was one of the documents the basis on which she came to the opinion in her report.  Nothing more, nothing less, but to tender it into evidence with the possibility that the content become an issue, Your Honours, would be greatly prejudicial to my client, who was not there when the document was written; who does not even know about the content of this document; who was not -- who cannot even, Your Honours, explain the circumstances under which it was written; and who cannot, Your Honours, be in the position to give any interpretation to answer exactly what she is saying.  So it can only be an ID document, Your Honour.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Counsel, there is one thing, that given the source presented in front of Nsengiyumva, he has not denied this.  

MR. BLACK:  

I agree with everything my friend, Mr. Taku has said and I want to add this.  You will note quite strongly that they have not read anything from the transcript in which Nsengiyumva or his counsel admits this is an authentic document or denies it.  There is no mention of his position, and I find that very strange.  So I suspect he did not admit its authenticity.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Well, silence (inaudible) way of answering that.  

MR. BLACK:  

Well, we don't know if they were silent.  They haven't read the transcript.  We don't know what Nsengiyumva was counseled; what position he took cause they are not reading it.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Well, the position is it has not been challenged so if (microphones overlapping).

MR. BLACK:

No, I am not finished; I waited 15 minutes for you to talk.  

Secondly, and most importantly, they have to be fixed with their position they have used against us throughout this entire trial.  We tried to put in quite a number of documents as exhibits and they resisted almost everyone because they say, "Prove it."  And it's quite, in our view, same as theirs, they think this is quite clearly his document, what's the problem.  We tried many times to put in documents through many people and everybody knows, probably authentic, but they resisted, including that simple example, the one of the US Naval Authority.  They wouldn't even admit that.  They want me to call an officer from the US Naval Authority to do it.  If what's good for the goose is good for the gander; if we can't do it, they can't do it.  

And thirdly, Lord Atkins is totally misquoted.  Lord Atkins, in that case, was arguing against interpretation of rules of procedure which prevent a fair trial, not rules of procedure which encourage an unjust and an unfair trial, which is the rule that is being used in this Tribunal. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT:  

I just need 30 seconds, Mr. President.  You have Madam Des Forges here who has told you she received a photocopy of the document through Linda Melville.  So you have no proof of identity. 

THE WITNESS:  

That is not what I said. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT:  

You will correct me if I am wrong.  What I would like to say, Mr. President, is that Madam Des Forges is according an enormous amount of importance to this document because it does reveal the thought processes of various officers.  I am not sure if this is a word for word account of what she said.  So it is a very useful document in that context.  She is reading certain documents to you out of context; she draws conclusions which, in my opinion, are not justified when one reads the text.  Therefore, it is very important, as Madam Des Forges said, but we also feel the document is important and you've just been told that you should admit this evidence without knowing anything about its provenance, authorship, and yet we have just learnt from this letter, which is an attempt to establish the reprehensible nature of the state of mind of the soldiers.  Well, I put it to you that for the purposes of identification, it is acceptable, but in order for this document to be tendered as evidence, you need to base yourselves on something a little more substantial. 

MR. PRESIDENT: 

(Microphone not activated) 

THE WITNESS:  

Your Honour, may I say something?  

MR. BLACK:  

Unless you are going to clarify mister ‑‑ his statement about where she got (inaudible) no.  She cannot speak because this is between counsel and the Judges. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Yes, we will see what she has to say.

MR. BLACK: 

The witness ‑‑ okay.

THE WITNESS:  

First of all, I was misquoted.  I did not say I got this document.  Second of all, the task of a historian is to interpret documents.  If you do not wish me to interpret documents, I have no role here.  That is the first thing.  

The second thing is a historian also has an obligation if he or she does his work seriously to evaluate the authenticity of documents, not as a handwriting expert, but as a person who has seen a number of documents; who has handled them; who has seen a series of signatures; who has seen the classification numbers and the heading of documents; so that when I speak of the document as authentic, it is not simply out of the air, it is based upon a substantial experience as a historian in evaluating the authenticity of documents.  Of course, I will never consider ‑‑ 

MR. BLACK:  

Excuse me, Dr. Des Forges, I'm sorry to interrupt you.

THE WITNESS:  

I will not be interrupted like that.  I will not.  

MR. BLACK:  

Mr. President, this is totally improper for a witness to advocate a position about a piece of evidence.  She is here to interpret it; she is doing it; that's fine.  Whether it's authentic is another question, that's a legal matter between counsel and Judges.  She has no right to make legal argument.  

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Counsel, but what she is saying is she considers this as (microphone overlapping). 

MR. BLACK:  

That's counsel's role. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

But she says she considers this as an authentic document.

MR. BLACK:  

That's counsel's role.  That's irrelevant because the rules here are quite clear unless it's authenticated by author or the recipient, they can't be exhibited as an exhibit.  That should be your position all throughout this trial.  You have to maintain it.  It doesn't matter what she says or what she thinks is authentic or not, that's her opinion. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Counsel, then her opinion is irrelevant if she express an opinion on some document which she doesn't know. 

MR. BLACK:  

It's still ‑‑ when I filed General Dallaire’s reconnaissance report, which they objected, UN document from being filed unless he authenticates the signature, who we all know it's his document, I couldn't do it.  It is now an ID document.  Now, I believe it to be and everybody else believes it to be authentic, but I wasn't allowed to file it.  And he can't file it no matter what she thinks. 

MR. PRESIDENT:  

Well, we will give a ruling on this tomorrow morning at 9:00.  

Court is adjourned till tomorrow at 9:00.
(Court adjourned at 1737)  
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